INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

••

.

.

.

University of Alberta

The Relationship between the El Niño Southern Oscillation and the Incidence of Dengue/DHF and Malaria in South America and Southeast Asia

by

Alexandre Sébastien Gagnon



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Department of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2000



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-59806-3

Canadä

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Alexandre Sébastien Gagnon

Title of Thesis: The Relationship between the El Niño Southern Oscillation and the Incidence of Dengue/DHF and Malaria in South America and Southeast Asia

Degree: Master of Science

Year this Degree Granted: 2000

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Alexandre Gogner

299 des Saules Sainte-Marie de Beauce Québec, Canada G6E 1Y9

August 4, 2000

Abstract

Interannual epidemics of dengue and malaria occur in many tropical countries and are thought to be linked with climatic anomalies. The El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) is the strongest interannual signal of climate variability. The two phases of ENSO, i.e., El Niño and La Niña, influence temperature and precipitation in many parts of the world, and are therefore likely to affect the incidence of mosquitotransmitted diseases.

In this thesis annual dengue and malaria incidence data were correlated with ENSO episodes for various South American and Southeast Asian countries. Results show that there is a statistically significant correlation between El Niño and dengue epidemics in Colombia, French Guiana, Suriname, and Indonesia. Similarly, Colombia, Guyana, Peru, Sarawak, and Venezuela are likely to experience malaria epidemics during El Niño years. Public health officials could therefore strongly benefit from the use of El Niño forecasts and they should emphasize control activities such as insecticide sprayings during these years.

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled *The Relationship between the El Niño Southern Oscillation and the Incidence of Dengue/DHF and Malaria in South America and Southeast Asia* submitted by Alexandre Sébastien Gagnon in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Dr. Andrew B.G. Bush (Supervisor)

faren E.

Dr. Karen E. Smoyer (co-Supervisor)

Dr. Edward P. Lozowski Dr. Bruce R. Sutherland

Aug. 7,2000

Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada for their postgraduate scholarship and the University of Alberta for its Walter H Johns Graduate Fellowship. Also, participation at the first summer school of the Inter-American Institute for Global Change Research (IAI) (Interactions between Seasonal to Inter-annual Climate Variability and Human Systems) was helpful for completion of this thesis.

I wish to acknowledge the following people who were of great help during the duration of this two-year project and without whom major sections of this thesis would otherwise not have been completed. Special acknowledgement to MIrs. M Ziver, reference/information specialist at PAHO's headquarters in Washington, D.C, Mrs. den Herder of the *Centre de Documentation Division des Maladies Transmissibles* at the WHO in Switzerland, and all the data providers listed in Appenclix 1. Also, special thanks to Dr. F. Fouque (*Laboratoire d'Entomologie Médicale* of the *Institut Pasteur* in French Guiana), Mrs. A. Martinez (*Instituto Geofísico del Perú*), Dr. E. Heredia-Calderón (Ecuador's *Instituto Nacional de Meteorología e Hidrología* (INAMHI)), and Dr. Remigio Galarraga (*Escuela Politécnica Nacional* of Quito). Finally, many thanks to all the members of my supervisory committee: Dr. A Bush and Dr. K Smoyer (supervisors), Dr. E. Lozowski, and Dr. B. Sutherland.

Table of Contents

1.	Background and Rationale	
	1.1 Introduction	1
	1.2 Biological Evidence of the Climate-Malaria and Dengue Relationship	4
	1.3 Literature Review	8
2.	Sources of Data and Methodology	
	2.1 Epidemiological and Non-Climatic Data	12
	2.2 ENSO Indices and Classification of El Niño and La Niña Events	14
	2.3 Climatological and Hydrological Databases	19
	2.4 Methodology	20
3.	Climatic and Hydrological Evidence of ENSO Teleconnections	
	3.1 Northern South America	25
	3.2 Brazil's Amazon	34
	3.3 Western South America	35
	3.4 Southeast Asia	39
	3.5 Temperature	46
	3.6 Summary of ENSO-related temperature and hydrological anomalies	51
4.	ENSO and Dengue/DHF	
	4.1 History of Dengue/DHF in South America and Southeast Asia	52
	4.2 Country-Specific Temporal Correlations	54
5.	ENSO and Malaria	
	5.1 Temporal Correlations in Northern South America	67
	5.2 Temporal Correlations in Western South America	82
	5.3 Temporal Correlations in Southeast Asia	88

6. Discussion and Conclusion	
6.1 Dengue/DHF	96
6.2 Malaria	102
6.3 Conclusion	107
Bibliography	112
Appendix 1: Name and Addresses of Individuals who Provided Climatic,	
Hydrological, and Epidemiological Data	129
Appendix 2: Problem of Serial Correlation	132
Appendix 3: Example of Contingency Table with Fisher's Exact Test, Testing	
Independence of Dengue Epidemics between Niño (0) versus Non-Niño (0)	
years in French Guiana	135
Appendix 4: Maps	137

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Current definitions of El Niño	16
Table 2.2. El Niño and La Niña events included in this thesis	17
Table 2.3. Example of a contingency table testing for the independence of epidemics between El Niño years and other years	23
Table 3.1. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in French Guiana, Suriname, and Guyana, and maximum correlation with the SOI	26
Table 3.2. Maximum correlation between the SOI and river discharge anomalies in Guyana	29
Table 3.3. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Colombia and their maximum correlation with the SOI	31
Table 3.4. Maximum correlation between the SOI and river height anomalies in Colombia	31
Table 3.5. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Brazil's Amazon, and maximum correlation with the SOI	35
Table 3.6. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Indonesia, Sarawak, and the Philippines	41
Table 3.7. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Thailand	44
Table 3.8. Identification of dry and wet ENSO episodes for the June (0) through August (0) and September (0) through November (0) quarterlies	45

Table 3.9. Percentage change in median precipitation during El Niño and La Niña

events in northeastern South America, the Philippines, and Indonesia-Sarawak	46
Table 3.10. List of weather stations used in the calculation of the temperature composite index of northern South America and their maximum correlation with the SOI	48
Table 3.11. List of weather stations analysed for evidence of ENSO-related temperature anomalies in Southeast Asia, and their correlation with the SOI when it leads the temperature anomalies by six months	49
Table 4.1. Annual dengue and DHF cases in the Philippines according to various sources	61
Table 4.2. Results of the Fisher's exact test for dengue fever	65
Table 5.1. Malaria cases originating from different Colombian regions as a percentage of total cases	77
Table 5.2. Results of the Fisher's exact test for malaria in countries of northern South America	81
Table 5.3. Results of the Fisher's exact test for malaria in countries of western South America	88
Table 5.4. Results of Fisher's exact test for malaria in countries of Southeast Asia	95
Table 6.1. ENSO year with high dengue/DHF epidemic risk and the climatic anomalies associated with the spawning of those epidemics	98
Table 6.2. ENSO year with high malaria epidemic risk and the climatic anomalies associated with the spawning of those epidemics	s 106
Table A3.1. Example of contingency table with Fisher's exact test, testing for independence of dengue epidemics between Niño (0) and non-Niño (0) years in	

French Guiana

.

Table A3.2.	Probability of obtaining each possible value of "a" in the	
contingency	table	135

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Geographical location of the Niño (1+2), Niño 3, Niño 4, and Niño 3.4 regions	15
Figure 2.2. Time series of the inverse SOI and MEI and SST anomalies in regions Niño 3 and Niño 4	18
Figure 3.1. Rainfall composite index of French Guiana	27
Figure 3.2. Rainfall composite index of Suriname	28
Figure 3.3. Rainfall composite index of Guyana	28
Figure 3.4. Time evolution of the SOI and composite index of river discharge anomalies in Guyana	29
Figure 3.5. Time evolution of the SOI and composite index of river height anomalies in Colombia	32
Figure 3.6. Rainfall composite index of Brazil's Amazon	35
Figure 3.7. Total monthly precipitation at Piura airport	38
Figure 3.8. Discharge of the Piura river	38
Figure 3.9. Precipitation anomalies at Portoviejo	39
Figure 3.10. Rainfall composite index of Indonesia	42
Figure 3.11. Rainfall composite index of Sarawak (Malaysia)	42

Figure 3.12. Rainfall composite index of the Philippines	43
Figure 3.13. Time evolution of the SOI and temperature anomalies in northern South America	48
Figure 3.14. Time evolution of the SOI and temperature anomalies at Surabaya (Indonesia)	50
Figure 4.1. Dengue in Colombia	55
Figure 4.2. Dengue in French Guiana	55
Figure 4.3. Dengue in Suriname	56
Figure 4.4. House insecticide sprayings in Suriname	57
Figure 4.5. Dengue and DHF in Venezuela	58
Figure 4.6. DHF in Indonesia	59
Figure 4.7. DHF in Thailand	62
Figure 4.8. Dengue and DHF in Sarawak (Malaysia)	63
Figure 5.1. Malaria in French Guiana	68
Figure 5.2. Malaria in Guyana	70
Figure 5.3. Malaria in Suriname	71
Figure 5.4. Malaria in Venezuela	73

Figure 5.5. Time evolution of the SOI and rainfall anomalies at Santa Elena (Venezuela)	75
Figure 5.6. Malaria in Colombia	76
Figure 5.7. Malaria in Brazil	80
Figure 5.8. Time evolution of the SOI and rainfall anomalies at Porto Velho (Brazil)	81
Figure 5.9. Malaria in Ecuador	84
Figure 5.10. House insecticide sprayings in Ecuador	85
Figure 5.11. Malaria in Peru	87
Figure 5.12. Malaria in Indonesia	89
Figure 5.13. Malaria in the Philippines	90
Figure 5.14. Malaria in Sarawak	92
Figure 5.15. Malaria in Thailand	94
Figure 6.1. The relationship between monthly DHF cases and total monthly precipitation on the island of Java (Indonesia)	97
Figure 6.2. Number of regencies reporting DHF cases in Indonesia	101
Figure 6.3. Examples of mosquito habitats appearing in dry periods	104

Figure 6.4. Countries with a statistically significant correlation between El Niño and epidemics of dengue and DHF	108
Figure 6.5. Countries with a statistically significant correlation between El Niño and malaria epidemics, and La Niña and malaria epidemics	109
Figure A2.1. Autocorrelation function of the SOI	133
Figure A4.1. Geographical location of the Malaysian State of Sarawak	137
Figure A4.2. Map of Ecuador	138
Figure A4.3. Geographical regions of Venezuela	139
Figure A4.4. Map of Peru	140
Figure A4.5. The geographical regions of Colombia	141
Figure A4.6. States and territories of Brazil's Amazon region	142

Chapter 1: Background and Rationale

1.1 Introduction

A link between climatic anomalies and epidemics of dengue and malaria has previously been proposed. Flooding, for instance, has been associated with malaria epidemics in Ecuador and Peru. The El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) is the strongest inter-annual signal on climate variability. ENSO influences temperature and precipitation in many parts of the world (Stern and Easterling, 1999). For this reason, ENSO is likely to play an important role in the development of dengue and malaria epidemics in countries significantly affected by this atmospheric phenomenon.

ENSO refers to an oscillation between the warm El Niño and the cold La Niña phases. El Niño is a climatic phenomenon that results in a warming of the central and eastern tropical Pacific Ocean. Because of the interaction between the atmosphere and the ocean, this warming of sea surface temperatures, hereafter referred to as SSTs, alters the atmospheric pressure gradient between the western and eastern equatorial Pacific Ocean, thereby affecting the tropical atmospheric circulation. This phenomenon also modifies the global atmospheric circulation through teleconnections in the atmosphere. Teleconnections are the linking of climatic anomalies over large distances (Glantz, 1991). La Niña results in an anomalous cooling of the eastern tropical Pacific Ocean, and generally causes opposite atmospheric perturbations from El Niño years (Nicholls, 1993).

Malaria and dengue fever are two diseases that affect millions of people in tropical and subtropical regions. At present, about 300 million people are infected by malaria each year, causing approximately 2.7 million deaths annually (Liese, 1998). Dengue fever is the most widespread arboviral disease, prevailing in more than 100 countries and territories. Diseases transmitted by viruses that are carried by arthropods (e.g. mosquitoes) are referred to as arboviral. The WHO estimates that every year tens of millions of people contract dengue world-wide, with approximately 500,000 hospitalised cases due to dengue haemorrhagic fever (DHF) (WHO, 1998a). DHF is the most severe form of dengue; an individual is more at risk of contracting DHF if previously infected by another dengue virus (Frost, 1991).

Currently, there are no vaccines against dengue and malaria, and no drug currently exists to prevent dengue and DHF (Gratz and Knudsen, 1996; WHO, 1998b). Various anti-malaria drugs such as chloroquine exist on the market, but resistance of the malaria parasites against these drugs is increasing and spreading geographically. Only in Central America has resistance to chloroquine of *Plasmodium falciparum*, the most deadly of the four malaria parasites, not yet been reported. In addition, resistance to sulfadoxine/pyrimethine, the main alternative to chloroquine, is widespread in Southeast Asia and South America. Also, resistance to mefloquine, another antimalarial drug, is common in Thailand (WHO, 1997). Moreover, antimalarial drugs are expensive and often unaffordable (WHO, 1998a). Thus, the best method to control malaria, and the only alternative for dengue and DHF, is eradication of the mosquitoes that transmit them.

Since mosquitoes transmit dengue and malaria, their geographical range is primarily delimited by climate, particularly temperature and precipitation. El Niño and La Niña are associated with warmer and cooler air temperatures, respectively, throughout the tropics (Hansen and Lebedeff, 1987). Warmer temperatures favour the spread of dengue and malaria by accelerating the life cycle of the diseases (Poveda and Rojas, 1997; Seghal, 1997). ENSO also produces precipitation anomalies in tropical regions (Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987, 1989). Rainfall has been shown to correlate with the abundance of mosquito breeding sites, and hence, the intensity of diseases transmitted by them (Bouma and Dye, 1997; Hales *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, ENSO-generated climatic variations are likely to be associated with changes in the incidence of dengue and malaria and could even facilitate the development of epidemics.

Some scientists are blaming past ENSO phenomena for outbreaks of dengue (Hales *et al.*, 1996; Hales *et al.*, 1999; Lewis *et al.*, unpublished) and malaria (Bouma *et al.*, 1994; Bouma *et al.*, 1997; Bouma and Dye, 1997; Bouma and van der Kaay, 1994; Bouma and van der Kaay, 1996; Poveda *et al.*, 1999; Poveda and Rojas, 1996;

Poveda and Rojas, 1997). Dengue studies have mainly focused on the Pacific islands, while comprehensive analyses of the ENSO-malaria relationship are limited to Colombia, India, and Venezuela. The relationships in these countries were not similar, because both the climatic impacts of ENSO and the climatic anomalies necessary for the spawning of epidemics vary between countries. In dry regions, flooding increases the number of mosquito breeding sites, whereas in wet regions, drier than normal conditions create pools of stagnant water alongside rivers, providing numerous breeding sites for mosquitoes (Poveda and Rojas, 1997). This thesis extends the analysis to regions that have not yet been studied and provides a global-scale study in the hope of building a predictive tool for improving the control of dengue and malaria.

This thesis identifies statistical relationships between ENSO and epidemics of dengue and malaria in various South American and Southeast Asian countries. The ENSO-disease relationship is analysed in countries located in the following three regions: Southeast Asia (Indonesia, the Philippines, Sarawak, and Thailand), western South America (Ecuador and Peru), and northern South America (Brazil's Amazon, Colombia, French Guiana, Guyana, Suriname, and Venezuela). Sarawak is one of the two Malaysian states located in eastern Malaysia on the island of Borneo (Figure A4.1). These countries were selected because of the identifiable impacts of ENSO on temperature and rainfall variations in those regions (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989; Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987, 1989) as well as the availability of their epidemiological data.

Since ENSO teleconnections are not necessarily consistent over time for all study countries, an initial objective is to determine the temporal consistency of the climatic signals. In countries where a statistically significant relationship exists between El Niño or La Niña and disease outbreaks, the absence of anomalous climatic conditions during an El Niño (La Niña) year suggests an explanation for the lack of disease outbreak during this particular event. Conversely, anomalous climatic conditions in a normal year (i.e., neither an El Niño nor a La Niña year) could explain the occurrence of an epidemic during that year. In addition, this analysis determines whether climatic anomalies are the same throughout the country. Spatial consistency is important in this study, as disease cases are usually reported as a national average. However, if the ENSO signal is different for different regions of the same country, the analysis is necessarily limited if regional disease data are not available.

To study the impact of climatic variations associated with ENSO on the incidence of mosquito-transmitted diseases one needs to understand how climate affects their life cycles. Hence, the remainder of this chapter provides some background on the evidence of the biological relationship between climate and the incidence of dengue and malaria, as well as a literature review of the evidence of ENSO-dengue and -malaria relationships. ENSO teleconnections, with their temporal and spatial climatic fluctuations, are discussed in Chapter 2. The third and fourth chapters present correlations between ENSO and dengue, and ENSO and malaria, respectively. Finally, the last chapter summarises the results and discusses the potential use of El Niño-related climate forecasts to better control mosquito-transmitted diseases in South America and Southeast Asia.

1.2 Biological Evidence of the Climate-Malaria and Dengue Relationship

The life cycles of malaria and dengue are similar; both diseases require hosts, e.g. human beings, and vectors. Mosquitoes are referred to as vectors of these diseases, because they transmit the agent from host to host. An agent is something that produces the disease. It is a parasite for malaria and a virus for dengue. There are four types of malaria parasites, all of the genus *Plasmodium: vivax, falciparum, malariae*, and *ovale*. In the countries selected for this study, *vivax* and *falciparum* malaria are the two most common species. Similarly, four dengue viruses (denoted by DEN-1, DEN-2, DEN-3, and DEN-4) cause dengue disease. Sixty mosquito species of the genus *Anopheles* transmit malaria, whereas only *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* carry dengue viruses. When a female mosquito bites an infected human (who hosts either the malaria parasites or the dengue viruses) to obtain blood, as a part of its own natural life cycle, it becomes infectious and, thus, a vector of the disease.

The life cycle of dengue or malaria is completed if the mosquito carrying the agent bites another person before dying (WHO, 1992a; PAHO, 1994a).

In 1953, the first case of DHF was identified in Manila in the Philippines. DHF is the only fatal form of dengue and it has the same disease cycle as the classical or benign form of dengue (Aiken and Leigh, 1978). In Indonesia, for instance 1,414 out of the 72,133 DHF cases that occurred in 1998 were fatal (R. Kusriastuti, *personal communication*). Although DHF occurs within the geographical range of dengue, it is mainly an urban disease that occurs in poor and crowded areas (Frost, 1991). Accordingly, outbreaks are mainly reported from large urban centres of Southeast Asia where such conditions are common (Cantelar de Francisco, 1983). Thus, DHF is a common disease in Southeast Asia (Frost, 1991), and its incidence is increasing in many Latin American countries (Gubler and Clark, 1995). Colombia, for example, reported 39 DHF cases in L990, in comparison with 5171 in 1998. The main vector of DHF is *Ae. aegypti* (Aiken and Leigh, 1978), which was associated with almost all epidemics of DHF in Southeast Asia. Nonetheless, *Ae. albopictus* might have contributed to some epidemics, notably in Singapore, but only in secondary importance to *Ae. aegypti* (Meade, 1976).

Temperature, rainfall, and relative humidity are the three primary climatic factors impacting the distribution and intensity of both dengue/DHF and malaria. Warmer temperatures lengthen the longevity of mosquitoes and increase the development rates of both the mosquitoes and malaria parasites as well as hastening the replication of dengue viruses (PAHO, 1994a; Patz *et al.*, 1998; Poveda and Rojas, 1997). For instance, the development of *Plasmodium falciparum* in the mosquito gut takes 27 days at 20°C and only 10 days at 30°C (Thouez *et al.*, 1998). Similarly, the transmission of dengue is four times higher at 30°C than at 17°C (Poveda *et al.*, 1999). Watts *et al.* (1987) calculated that the replication of DEN-2 takes about 12 days at 30°C and only 7 days at 32 to 35°C. Furthermore, warmer temperatures might decrease the size of adult *Aedes* mosquitoes, and these smaller mosquitoes have to feed more frequently in order to produce a batch of eggs (Seghal, 1997).

At extremely high temperatures (i.e., 35°C and higher) the longevity of both *Aedes* and *Anopheles* mosquitoes is shortened and the development of the malaria parasites and dengue viruses is interrupted (Lindsay and Birley, 1996; Patz *et al.*, 1998). Nevertheless, no proof currently exists of the fatal effects of extreme temperatures on transmission of vector-borne diseases, probably because of the ability of mosquitoes to find suitable microclimates (e.g., in houses, drain pipes, or under leafy vegetation) in order to survive (Patz *et al.*, 1998).

Precipitation also influences dengue and malaria transmission, because it affects the relative humidity (50 to 60% relative humidity is optimal for mosquito survival), and is related to the availability of mosquito breeding sites (Martin and Lefebvre, 1995). Malaria mosquitoes prefer to breed in ponds of stagnant water as opposed to flowing water (Bruce-Chwatt, 1985), and hence the number of breeding sites is related to climatic variations. In dry regions, the unavailability of breeding grounds and the short life span of mosquitoes usually limit malaria transmission (Bouma and van der Kaay, 1994). As a result, peaks in malaria incidence are generally associated with the rainy season, for the retreat of water from flooded lands creates ponds of stagnant water, providing adequate breeding grounds for mosquitoes (Dutta and Dutt, 1978; Telleria, 1986). Nevertheless, malaria outbreaks can also be associated with dryness, such as in Sri Lanka, because prolonged droughts can transform rivers into ponds of stagnant water (Bouma *et al.*, 1994).

One would expect seasonal rainfall variations to affect the incidence of dengue and DHF through changes in the availability of mosquito breeding sites (Aiken *et al.*, 1980). In Indonesia, the number of DHF cases frequently peaks during the rainy season (October through April; Nathin, 1988; Saroso 1978; Sumarmo, 1987), because of high mosquito density (Aiken *et al.*, 1980). The relationship between DHF and rainfall, however, is not always clear-cut, as DHF outbreaks have previously been reported during droughts in Malaysia and Northeast Thailand (Aiken *et al.*, 1980; Eamchan et al., 1989), possibly because of water storage practices.

Ae. aegypti, the primary vector of dengue and DHF, breeds in artificial (i.e., man-made) water containers located in and around houses. As many of those

containers are artificially maintained (especially those indoor) the availability of mosquito breeding sites is, in addition to rainfall, affected by human behaviour. For instance, in most cities and villages of Thailand, water is stored year-round (WHO, 1970), because of the deficiency of the water supply and people's preference to drink rainwater (WHO, 1971). Accordingly, researchers found that the larval population diminishes only slightly during the dry season (WHO, 1970). In Bangkok (Thailand) and Jakarta most of the water jars were occupied by larvae during the hot and dry seasons (Tonn, 1970; van Peenen *et al.*, 1972). Furthermore, 73% of larvae of *Ae. aegypti* are found indoor in urban areas of Malaysia (Meade, 1976), whereas in Puerto Rico, most larval habitat are outdoor and are therefore more likely to be influenced by seasonal rainfall patterns (Moore *et al.*, 1978). Consequently, water storage practices and the location of mosquito habitats must be considered when studying the impact of climatic variations on dengue and DHF transmission (Herrera-Basto *et al.*, 1992).

Ae. albopictus is found in rural and suburban areas and is a semi-domestic species, because it breeds in both natural and man-made water containers. This mosquito species transmits dengue in Southeast Asia and the Pacific Islands, but is secondary in importance to Ae. aegypti. Ae. albopictus is also found in Brazil, but there is no evidence that it acts as a vector of dengue in South America (PAHO, 1994a). Ae. albopictus breeds preferably outside in water jars and other breeding sites that result from poor garbage disposal such as tires, tin cans, bottles, etc., as well as in natural water containers (Meade, 1976). Because of Ae. albopictus' preference to breed outside, some scientists suggest that a stronger relationship should exist between dengue transmitted by this mosquito species and rainfall (Aiken et al., 1980).

In summary, the transmission of dengue and malaria is highest in areas with high mosquito density. Mosquito density is proportional to the availability of breeding sites and the longevity of mosquitoes. Therefore, precipitation patterns, which multiply the availability of mosquito breeding sites, and warmer and humid weather, which lengthen the longevity of mosquitoes as well as hasten the development of malaria parasites and replication of dengue viruses, are more likely to spawn epidemics. In the case of dengue and DHF, water storage practices and accordingly, the location of mosquito larvae habitat, must also be considered.

1.3 Literature Review

Bouma *et al.* (1994) suspected that ENSO-related climatic variations may be an important factor affecting the transmission of malaria where the disease appears periodically. In those regions, outbreaks are seen to follow a cyclic pattern. Since malaria is not endemic (i.e., it does not constantly occurs), the population lacks protective immunity and when climatic conditions favour transmission of the disease, outbreaks occur. To correlate epidemics of malaria with ENSO events, they first identified those regions that have a history of periodic malaria epidemics; second, they determined the areas where rainfall and temperature are influenced by either phase of ENSO. Comparing the two, they found that there is a correlation between periodic malaria epidemics and ENSO in some regions. In particular, a correlation of El Niño with malaria outbreaks was identified in northern South America.

Bouma and Dye (1997) correlated ENSO with malaria mortality and morbidity (non-fatal contraction of the disease) in Venezuela for the 1910-35 and 1975-95 periods, respectively. They did not find any correlation between negative SST anomalies (i.e., La Niña events) and malaria epidemics. Moreover, rainfall anomalies were not significant during the epidemics that occurred between 1910 and 1935. Hence, they concluded that increased rainfall is not a factor affecting malaria transmission in Venezuela. However, all epidemics were preceded by a year with below average rainfall. The correlation of national malaria cases with SST anomalies reveals that malaria mortality and morbidity increased by about 36.5% in year Niño (+1). Most El Niño events overlay two calendar years. Niño (+1) refers to the year immediately following the peak in SSTs in the equatorial Pacific Ocean, which typically occurs near the end of the calendar year.

Poveda and Rojas (1996) qualitatively compared malaria outbreaks and ENSO years from 1959 to 1994 in Colombia. They found that malaria cases peak during El Niño. Poveda and Rojas (1997) studied this relationship further by correlating malaria

cases with SSTs in the eastern tropical Pacific Ocean. They concluded that higher temperature and below average rainfall associated with El Niño increase the incidence of malaria in Colombia, as droughts may increase the density of mosquitoes by forming puddles along rivers as their discharge decreases (Bourna *et al.*, 1994).

Bouma *et al.* (1997) also studied the correlation between malaria and ENSO in Colombia from 1960 to 1992 and provide further details. Results show a statistically significant increase in malaria transmission in El Niño years. On average the number of malaria cases in Colombia increased by 17.3% and 35.1% in Niño (0) and Niño (+1) years, respectively. In addition, they correlated the number of malaria cases with SST anomalies in the eastern equatorial Pacific Ocean, observing a statistically significant positive correlation between SST anomalies and malaria incidence.

Less work has been accomplished on the relationship between ENSO and dengue. Hales *et al.* (1996) correlated the number of dengue outbreaks in the South Pacific between 1970 and 1995 with the Southern Oscillation Index (SOI). The SOI is the standardised difference in sea level atmospheric pressure between Darwin (Australia) and Tahiti (French Polynesia) and is used as an indicator of ENSO activity. During El Niño, the SOI is negative, whereas during La Niña it is positive. They found a positive and statistically significant correlation between the number of dengue outbreaks and the SOI, with a larger number of dengue epidemics during La Niña. Additionally, Lewis *et al.* (unpublished) studied the relationship between ENSO and the incidence of dengue in the South Pacific, and found that more outbreaks occurred during La Niña and normal years than in El Niño years.

Hales *et al.* (1999) further studied the association between the SOI and dengue in 14 island-states of the South Pacific using monthly reports of dengue from 1973 to 1994. They found that the incidence of dengue increased during La Niña in 10 islandstates, but in only five of these countries were the correlation coefficients statistically significant. In addition, five of those ten countries show a positive correlation between La Niña and temperature and/or rainfall (i.e., warmer and/or wetter weather). Nevertheless, three of the five countries with a statistically significant correlation between the SOI and dengue cases have negative or weak correlations with temperature and/or rainfall, respectively. The time series, however, were not adjusted for serial correlation (i.e., the correlation of a variable with the previous and following observations), which can lead to the identification of statistically significant correlations when no relationship actually exists.

Also, Poveda *et al.* (1999) noted that the three peaks in the number of dengue cases reported in Colombia between 1980 and 1996 (with missing data for 1993 and 1994) occurred in Niño (+1) years.

Most analyses use morbidity as opposed to mortality data because it is a better representation of disease incidence, particularly for dengue, since this disease is usually not fatal unless haemorrhagic symptoms are observed. Some analyses are qualitative (Bouma *et al.*, 1994; Poveda *et al.*, 1999; Poveda and Rojas, 1996), whereas others use statistical techniques to quantify the relationships (Bouma and Dye, 1997; Bouma *et al.*, 1997; Hales *et al.*, 1996; Hales *et al.*, 1999; Lewis *et al.*, unpublished; Poveda and Rojas, 1997).

Quantitative analysis of the relationship between ENSO and malaria has been limited to Colombia and Venezuela. In this thesis, Colombia and Venezuela will be re-analysed using different statistical techniques and a longer time series in order to verify if previously observed relationships were repeated in more recent El Niño events. In addition, a more refined analysis with epidemiological data at the regional scale is performed for Colombia. Analyses of Brazil's Amazon, French Guiana, Guyana, and Suriname are also performed and represent the first such comprehensive studies of these neighbouring regions. Furthermore, it is necessary to study this association in Ecuador and Peru where ENSO has a direct and immediate impact. Research in this region is limited to the 1982/83 El Niño. In order to capture some of the spatial variability of ENSO's climatic impact, this thesis also analyses some Southeast Asian countries, regions in which no research has yet been accomplished.

Because ENSO teleconnections are not always consistent temporally for all study regions, an investigation of the climatic variations during individual events is necessary in the study of ENSO and epidemics of mosquito-transmitted diseases. For example, the absence of climatic anomalies during some ENSO events due to poor atmospheric teleconnections may explain the lack of dengue and/or malaria epidemic during this particular event. Furthermore, as various countries are analysed, an attempt will be made to identify geographical regions displaying the same relationships between ENSO and disease outbreak. Finally, by determining the climatic variations that spawned past dengue and malaria epidemics, this thesis identifies which countries could benefit from the use of coupled ocean-atmosphere models that predict El Niño to better control the spread of these diseases when favourable climatic conditions are foreseen. Therefore, this research constitutes a basis for the development of a predictive tool that can incorporate climatic indicators in order to help forecast the spread of these diseases.

Chapter 2: Sources of Data and Methodology

The first part of this chapter presents the sources of dengue/DHF and malaria data used to create national disease time series. Because of standardisation of the disease cases by the population and the importance of insecticide sprayings on the incidence of mosquito-transmitted diseases, Section 2.1 also includes information on the sources of annual population estimates and house insecticide sprayings. Section 2.2 classifies the El Niño and La Niña years, while the third section lists the climatic and hydrological data sets utilised in this thesis. The last part of this chapter describes the methods used to provide evidence of ENSO teleconnections and to identify statistically significant correlations between ENSO and epidemics of dengue/DHF and malaria.

2.1 Epidemiological and Non-climatic Data

Epidemiological data for malaria and dengue were acquired from various sources. For the Americas, malaria data were gathered at the headquarters of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) (a regional office of the WHO)). Since 1957, PAHO publishes an annual report including information on malaria from most American countries¹. Each annual report includes national epidemiological data such as the number of malaria cases, and the percentage of malaria cases detected actively and passively (definitions to follow). Moreover, the reports include other relevant data such as annual population estimates and the annual number of house insecticide sprayings.

Malaria cases can be identified through either active or passive case detection. Cases are reported actively when anti-malaria workers look for malaria infection by carrying out home visits and examining the blood of people with fever and those who recently had fever. On the other hand, cases reported by hospitals, health centres, and rural health clinics are characterised as passive cases (Lim, 1992). Active case detection is expensive and, of the total number of malaria cases reported in the Americas, less than 1% originate from active case detection (PAHO, 1998a). The Oficina General de Epidemiología del Perú, the Oficina de Epidemiología de Colombia, and Dr. Afonso D.C. Passos of the Facultade de Medicina of Brazil's Universidade de São Paulo were additional sources of national malaria data. (See Appendix 1 for addresses of data providers.) These additional data lengthened the time series for Peru by 18 years (1941-1958) and allowed for comparison with the data from the PAHO. Furthermore, the above sources also provided regional epidemiological data for Colombia (1995–1998) and Peru (1996 and 1998).

I received epidemiological data as well as annual population estimates for the Philippines from the national health departments of the Philippines, Thailand, and the Sarawak². Malaria data for Indonesia were obtained from the *World Health Statistics Annual³* and the *Weekly Epidemiological Record⁴*. These WHO reports also contain malaria cases reported by other countries analysed and therefore allow comparison with data from other sources. Logically, the data from the WHO and from the national departments of health should be the same, as the WHO obtains its data from its regional offices, which obtain them from the malaria surveillance programmes of participating countries.

Additionally, the regional office of the WHO for Southeast Asia and the Communicable Diseases Research Centre of Indonesia's National Institute of Health Research and Development provided supplementary data from 1989 through 1998 for the 27 provinces of Indonesia.

Annual population estimates for Indonesia (prior to 1989) and Thailand were obtained from the *Monthly Bulletin of Statistics*, published by the Statistical Office of the United Nations. Unfortunately, this publication only documents population data for the Federation of Malaysia and not for individual states, except for the 1960s. Hence, the population estimates for Malaysia were multiplied by the percentage of the Malaysian citizens living in Sarawak (about 9.3% in the late 1960s). An estimate of the 1997 population of Sarawak, obtained from a tourist information web-site⁵, was 1,954,300 inhabitants, corresponding to 9% of the Malaysian population. Therefore, the percentage of Malaysians living in Sarawak in 1997 is similar to the percentage in

the late 1960s so it will be assumed that the population growth of Sarawak is similar to the national average during the study period.

In the Americas, with the exception of French Guiana, cases of dengue and DHF were obtained from a WHO-sponsored publication (Gratz and Knudsen, 1996). More recent annual epidemiological data for Southeast Asia were obtained from various organisations through personal communication⁶. The number of DHF cases reported annually in Indonesia, the Philippines, and Thailand are also published in Halstead (1980, 1993) and Pinheiro and Corber (1997) for a few decades. In addition, Indonesia's Sub Direktorat Arbovirosis supplied additional information on the incidence of DHF as well as regional and monthly epidemiological data from 1994 through 1998. As data for the same time periods were supplied by two or more sources, comparisons were possible for quality control.

French Guiana does not report dengue cases to the PAHO. The *Institut Pasteur* in Cayenne documents, however, suspected and diagnosed cases (Reynes *et al.*, 1993). Suspected dengue cases are published in Fouque *et al.* (1995) and Reynes (1996) from 1965 through 1993. The number of dengue cases was estimated from the published graph of each source.

More recent dengue/DHF data in the Americas are limited to Colombia and Venezuela. The annual number of dengue cases reported in Colombia, and for some years DHF, was obtained from Colombia's *Oficina de Epidemiología*. Annual DHF cases for Colombia from 1990 to 1998 are published in the 33rd edition of *Revista Salud Colombia*⁷. Finally, the number of dengue and DHF cases for more recent years in Venezuela were collected through archival searches of the newspaper *El Nacional*⁸ published in Caracas.

2.2 ENSO Indices and Classification of El Niño and La Niña Events

Various indices exist to quantify the strength of ENSO events. Data were obtained from the most common ENSO indices: SST anomalies in the tropical Pacific Ocean, the SOI, and the Multivariate ENSO Index (MEI) (Wolter and Timlin, 1998). SST anomalies are typically calculated in four different regions of the Pacific: Niño

1+2, Niño 3, Niño 4, and Niño 3.4 (Figure 2.1). Positive SST anomalies refer to El Niño and negative anomalies to La Niña conditions in all four regions.



Figure 2.1. Geographical location of the Niño 1+2 (0–10°S, 80°W–90°W), Niño 3 (5°N–5°S, 90°W–150°W), Niño 4 (5°N–5°S, 150°W–160°E), and Niño 3.4 (5°N–5°S, 120°W–170°W) regions. Source: Pielke and Landsea, 1999, p. 2028.

A negative SOI signifies low pressure at Tahiti and high pressure at Darwin with weak easterly trade winds, indicating El Niño conditions. The MEI is a bimonthly index and is considered the most reliable index to monitor ENSO, because it incorporates six climatic variables, as recorded in the Comprehensive Ocean-Atmosphere Data Set (COADS) from the tropical Pacific Ocean. K. Wolter of NOAA provided this data set. The MEI is calculated as the first principal component of the combination of the following six variables: sea level pressure, zonal and meridional components of surface winds, SST, surface air temperature, and cloudiness (Wolter and Timlin, 1993). (Principal component analysis determines the best linear combination of various variables⁹.) In contrast to the SOI, positive values of the MEI relate to El Niño conditions and negative values to La Niña conditions. Correlation between the MEI and other ENSO indices varies from ± 0.8 to 0.9 (Wolter and Timlin, 1998).

The SST anomalies (calculated as deviations from the mean of the 1950-79 period) and SOI data sets are available on the web site of the Climate Prediction Center of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (CPC-NOAA)¹⁰. Of

the two SOI data sets, the one with standardised anomalies was selected. The MEI was normalised to produce a time series with a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one as well as to minimise the influence of seasonal changes (Wilks, 1995). Therefore, the SOI, as well as the MEI, are given in terms of variance, and SST anomalies in degrees Celsius. All ENSO indices were smoothed with an 11-month central moving average (i.e., five months on either side) to emphasise inter-annual variations.

At the core of this thesis is the correlation between disease outbreaks and ENSO years. Therefore, it is essential to classify years as El Niño, La Niña, or normal, and to provide tangible explanations for such a classification. The Japanese Meteorological Agency (JMA) (cited in Trenberth, 1997), Kiladis and Diaz (1989), and Trenberth (1997) have suggested some definitions of El Niño (Table 2.1). However, because an ENSO event can considerably differ from another (Leung *et al.*, 1999) and that each definition has its own criteria, no consensus prestently exists on the classification of El Niño and La Niña years, because

Table 2.1. Current deminions of Er Nino.	Table 2.1.	Current definitions	of El Niño.
--	------------	---------------------	-------------

Authors	ENSO Index	Criteria
Japanese Meteorological Agency	SSTs (4°N-4°N and 90°-150°W)	Anomalies $\Rightarrow 0.5^{\circ}$ C for ≥ 6 months
Kiladis and Diaz (1989)	 SSTs (4°N to 4°S and 160°W to the American coast) SOI 	 positive for 3 consecutive seasons, with anomalies ≥ 0.5°C ffor one season SOI <1 for same duration
Trenberth (1997)	SSTs (Niño 3.4)	Anomalies $** > 0.4$ °C for ≥ 6 months

*Five-month running mean of anomalies

In this thesis, emphasis is given to ENSO events of at least moderate intensity, because weak events are less likely to influence considerably the climate and hence the transmission of vector-borne diseases. All the above definitions include some El Niño events, such as the 1963 and 1979 episodes, that are considered weak and even not significant by other classifications (e.g., Quinn and Neal, 199.5; Schneider and

Fleer, 1989). In addition, the JMA classification does not include the 1993 and 1994/95 El Niños, because SST anomalies persisted above the threshold for only five, rather than six months, although the scientific community considers 1994/95 an ENSO event (e.g., Hollis, 1996 and Trenberth, 1997).

A definition that would include the 1994/95 warm event but that would also exclude ENSO episodes of relatively weak intensity is therefore necessary for this study. To classify years as El Niño, La Niña, and non-ENSO, the MEI was used, because it is a composite of different ENSO parameters and thus a better representation of the environmental conditions in the Pacific Ocean. Accordingly, an El Niño (La Niña) event is defined to take place when anomalies are greater than 1.0 (-1.0) for at least 4 consecutive bimonthly values. The latter criterion discards strong anomalies that are not persistent (and hence would not have a lasting climatic impact), but still allows for the inclusion of the 1994/95 El Niño. As a result, only moderate and strong ENSO events are considered.

El Niño and La Niña years, according to the above definition, are, since 1955, summarised in Table 2.2. Some scientists consider the 1990 through 1995 period as one prolonged El Niño, because warm temperatures persisted from 1990 to June 1995 in the central equatorial Pacific (Trenberth and Hoar, 1996). Nevertheless, three peaks are clearly evident in the time series of most ENSO indices (Figure 2.2).

El Niño years	La Niña year
1957/58	1955/56
1965/66	1964
1972/73	1970/71
1982/83	1973/74
1986/87	1975/76
1991/92	1988/89
1993	
1994/95	
1997/98	

Table 2.2. El Niño and La Niña events included in this thesis.



Figure 2.2. Time series of the inverse SOI and MEI (a) and SST anomalies in regions Niño 3 and Niño 4 (b). The arrows pointing downward represent the El Niño episodes and those pointing upward refer to the La Niña episodes analysed in this thesis.

Wolter and Timlin (1998) classified each bimonthly value of the MEI in categories ranging from 1 to 7. Numbers 1, 2, and 3 symbolise strong, moderate, and weak La Niña events, respectively. Number 4 represents a normal year and numbers 5 to 7 are El Niño events of weak, moderate and strong intensity, respectively.

According to that classification, all the selected ENSO events for this study are moderate or strong. Furthermore, the selected El Niños coincide closely with those used by Bouma *et al.* (1997) except for the 1976/77 El Niño.

Quinn and Neal (1995) performed a similar classification as Wolter and Timlin (1998) by categorising El Niño events from weak to very strong according to diverse physical and socio-economic impacts. Some factors used in their classification were: SST anomalies, rainfall and flooding, degree of damage and destruction, sea level variations, mortality of marine organisms and guano birds, impacts on coastal fisheries and fish production. Between 1957 and 1983, only the 1982/83 El Niño is considered very strong. The 1957/58 and 1972/73 episodes are strong; 1965, 1976, and 1987 are moderate; and all other events (except for 1969, which was classified as weakly moderate) were not considered because of their weak magnitude. As this comprehensive classification and Ropelewski and Halpert (1996) consider the 1976/77 El Niño moderate, it is also classified as moderate in this study.

Through 1988, the selected La Niña years correspond to the cold events identified by Kiladis and Diaz (1989) and Ropelewski and Halpert (1996). Except for 1995/96, all other cold events are similar to those used by Poveda and Rojas (1996; 1997). The JMA classification did not consider 1995/96 a La Niña event because SST anomalies were cooler than 0.5°C for only three, rather than six consecutive months. Similarly, Leigh (1996) classified the 1995/96 La Niña as weak.

The El Niño and La Niña events selected in this study are therefore in accordance with those accepted by the scientific community. Although emphasis will be given to ENSO years of moderate and strong intensity, the effect of weaker ENSO events, such as the 1963 and 1969 warm events as well as the 1995/96 cold event, will be discussed when relevant.

2.3 Climatological and Hydrological Databases

Climatological data (mean monthly temperature and total monthly precipitation) were obtained from ground-based meteorological stations. Most data were acquired from the Global Historical Climatology Network (GHCN) of the
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). (This data file includes monthly temperature and precipitation data for 7,280 temperature and over 20,000 precipitation stations world-wide¹¹.) The national meteorological services of Colombia, Guyana and Suriname provided additional climatological data for their respective countries¹², because of the scarcity of the NCDC in the region. In Indonesia rainfall data could not be obtained for the 1990s. Hence, areal monthly total precipitation estimates were obtained from National Center for Environmental Protection's Merged Analysis of Precipitation (CMAP) grid-based data set. NCEP computes total monthly precipitation data during this period using gauge observations, satellite estimates, and numerical model outputs (Xie and Arkin, 1997)¹³.

Relative humidity is also an important climatic parameter affecting dengue and malaria transmission. Humidity data, however, were not readily available, and were obtained from only a few Colombian weather stations. Nevertheless, all regions analysed in this study (with the exception of southwestern Ecuador and coastal Peru) have equatorial wet climates and their relative humidity is above the necessary threshold for mosquito survival year-round. In French Guiana, for example, the relative humidity is above 80% and 70% during the wet and dry seasons, respectively (Snow, 1976).

Hydrological data were obtained for Colombia, Guyana, and Peru. National meteorological organisations provided monthly river height and river discharge data from five Colombian and four Guyanese rivers. Finally, the Joint Institute for the Study of the Atmosphere and the Oceans (JISAO)¹⁴ supplied monthly rainfall at Piura airport and river discharge of the Piura river in the northern coastal region of Peru were obtained from.

2.4 Methodology

The first objective of this research is to provide temporal and spatial climatological, and at times hydrological, evidence of ENSO teleconnections. Using the current literature and data analysis, this objective verifies temporal and spatial ENSO-climate consistency throughout the country during El Niño and La Niña events.

The nature of this relationship is analysed for individual ENSO events, because lack of temporal correlation of climatic anomalies with ENSO might explain the poor relationship between ENSO and disease incidence. In the case that correlations are not consistent at the national level, regional data (where available) are used to demonstrate that disease epidemics originate from regions in which weather patterns are significantly influenced by ENSO.

The analysis consisted of calculating temperature, rainfall, and hydrological anomalies in terms of variance for all weather and gauging stations. This normalisation procedure is according to the equation:

$$\frac{X_i - M_{ij}}{\sigma_{ij}},$$
(2.1)

in which X_i corresponds to the observed value during month *i*, and M_{ij} to the long-term mean value for month *i* during period *j* (calculated using the entire time series). σ_{ij} refers to the standard deviation of month *i* for a time series of *j* months. Missing values, if less than five successive values, were approximated using a cubic-spline interpolation. This FORTRAN programme is available in Press *et al.* (1992). Like the ENSO indices, hydro-climatic time series were smoothed with an 11-month moving average to seasonal variations.

Next, cross-correlation was utilised to identify the greatest correlation coefficient at the best lag time (expressed in months; e.g., Poveda and Rojas, 1997). A lag time is likely to exist between the time of the ENSO event in the tropical Pacific Ocean and the occurrence of climatic and hydrological anomalies in more remote countries that are not directly influenced by ENSO. The Fisher's z-transformation was used to test for the statistical significance of the correlation coefficients using Quenouille's (1952) method to adjust for serial correlation (see Appendix 2 for details).

Since precipitation is highly variable, the national average of standardised anomalies of total annual precipitation was calculated to facilitate the identification of wet and dry years. Moreover, as in Hastenrath (1985), the national average of annual standardised anomalies was computed, because disease data are generally reported as a national average (this method was not possible in countries that do not exhibit spatial coherence of climatic anomalies with ENSO). No form of areal weighting was used in the calculation of national averages.

Although La Niña results in drier conditions in some areas of South America, in the coastal regions of northern Peru and southern Ecuador, which are normally arid, La Niña does not significantly affect precipitation (Tapley and Waylen, 1990). El Niño, however, brings increased rainfall to the region and thus disease epidemics are expected. The northern Ecuadorian coast is very wet with over 2000mm/year and there is no distinct dry season. A little southward a dry season emerges and, at Manta, most precipitation falls during the first four months of the year (Figure A4.2). The relatively warm waters of the Gulf of Guayaquil enhance evaporation and humidity and, thus, a considerable quantity of rain falls in regions located north and east of the city of Guayaquil. In contrast, the cold waters of the Pacific Ocean generate dryness in the southern Ecuador (i.e., from Manta to Guayaquil; hereafter referred to as the Peninsula).

The second objective of this project is the correlation of dengue/DHF and malaria epidemics with ENSO events. To determine the statistical significance of the correlation between ENSO and disease epidemics contingency tables with Fisher's exact test are used (R. Wong, *personal communication*). Fisher's exact test verifies the independence between the rows and columns of a 2×2 contingency table. Bouma and van der Kaay (1996) previously used contingency tables with the Chi-square test for the same purpose.

Fisher's exact test is based on the hypergeometric distribution and is adequate when the total number of observations in the contingency table is less than 200¹⁵. Given the small number of observations and the frequent lack of expected counts greater than five in all cells of the contingency table (a requirement for the Chi-square test), Fisher's exact test was preferred. This test is adequate for a small number of observations because approximations are not used (R. Wong, *personal communication*; S. Newman, *personal communication*). It calculates the exact probability of obtaining the observed contingency table¹⁶. Table 2.3 is an example of a contingency table testing for the independence between epidemics during El Niño versus other years.

Table 2.3. Example of a contingency table testing for the independence of epidemics between El Niño years and other years. H_0 : the incidence of an epidemic is unrelated to El Niño.

	El Niño years	Other years	Total
Epidemic	a	r-a	r
No Epidemic	m-a	a+n-r	S
Total	m	n	t

Ho: The incidence of an epidemic is unrelated to El Niño

Fisher's exact test calculates the probability of obtaining the observed contingency table using the formula:

$$\Pr(a) = \frac{m! n! r! s!}{a! (r-a)! (m-a)! (a+n-r)! t!},$$
(2.2)

in which r and s (cf., Table 2.3) are the number of years with and without epidemics, respectively. The number of El Niño and non-El Niño years in the time series correspond to m and n, respectively, while t is the total number of observations in the contingency table. Also, a represents the actual number of epidemic years that occurred during El Niño years. (In all contingency tables, the sum of m, n, r, and s equals t). Pr (a), that is the probability of obtaining a in the contingency table, is then calculated for each possible value of a (i.e., $\{0,1, \ldots, r\}$). The value of the statistical test (i.e., the p-value) is calculated by adding the probabilities (Pr) for all values of a greater than or equal to the actual a in the observed contingency table. The two-sided p-value is then calculated by summing the probabilities starting at a = 0 up to the point where the sum does not exceed the one-sided p-value (an example of these calculations is provided in Appendix 3).

Throughout the analysis other factors that may have influenced the incidence of these vector-borne diseases, such as major changes in mosquito control activities, population migration or political turmoil, were considered as reported in the WHO's *Weekly Epidemiological Record* (WER) since 1965. These socio-economic factors might explain the occasional lack of correlation of disease outbreak when the climate was favourable to the spread of those diseases and will be mentioned when they are believed to have occurred.

³ World Health Statistics Annual, 1983, pp. 791-795

⁴ Weekly Epidemiological Record, 1999, pp. 265-270

⁵ URL: <u>http://www.sarawak-online.com/tourism/population.html</u>

⁶ Data were provided by the Sarawak Health Department and the regional offices of the WHO for the Western Pacific and Southeast Asia

⁷ Revista Salud Colombia is available on-line at <u>http://www.saludcolombia.com</u>

⁸ Archival search is available on-line at <u>http://www.el-nacional.com</u>

⁹ S-Plus 2000. 1999. Modern Statistics and Advanced Graphics, User's Guide. Seattle, Washington.

¹⁰ URL: <u>http://www.cpc.noaa.gov/data/indices/</u>

¹¹ Data can be downloaded by ftp at the following URL: <u>http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/ol/climate/climatedata.html</u>.

¹² Specifically, Colombia's Instituto de Hidrología, Meteorología y Estudios Ambientales (IDEAM), Guyana's Hydrometeorological Service, and Suriname's Meteorological Service.

¹³ Data are available on-line at URL: <u>http://tao.atmos.washington.edu/data_sets/cmap_precip/pentad/</u>

¹⁴ Data are available on-line at URL: <u>http://tao.atmos.washington.edu/data_sets/piura/</u>

¹⁵ S-Plus 2000. 1999. Modern Statistics and Advanced Graphics, User's Guide. Seattle, Washington.

¹⁶ Minitab Support (statistical software): <u>http://www.minitab.com/support/</u>

¹ Since 1976 the report is titled: Status of Malaria Programs in the Americas. But it was previously named Status of Malaria Eradication in the Americas (1968-1975), Report on the Status of Malaria Eradication in the Americas (1959-1967), and The Status of Malaria Eradication Programs in the Americas (1957-1958)

² Specifically, Thailand's Department for the Control of Communicable Diseases (malaria division); the Vector Borne Diseases Control Unit of the Sarawak Health Department; and the Office for Public Health Services of the Department of Health of the Philippines.

Chapter 3: Climatic and Hydrological Evidence of ENSO Teleconnections

This chapter provides evidence of ENSO teleconnections, which are grouped per geographical region, that is, northern South America, Brazil's Amazon, western South America, and Southeast Asia. Then, Section 3.5 presents the ENSO temperature signal for the same regions, and Section 3.6 summarises the results of this chapter.

3.1 Northern South America

Ropelewski and Halpert (1987, 1989) identified a strong and consistent relationship between both phases of ENSO and rainfall variations in northeastern South America (i.e., north equatorial Brazil, French Guiana, Suriname, Guyana, and eastern Venezuela). They found that there is generally below (above) normal rainfall during El Niño (La Niña) in this region. Moreover, the correlation is stronger from July (0) through March (+1) and from June (0) through March (+1) for El Niño and La Niña years, respectively. (A reminder that Niño (0) and Niño (+1) refer to the development and decay years of an El Niño event, respectively. Niño (+1) follows the peak in SST, which generally occur by the end of the calendar year.) All El Niño events analysed between 1911 and 1982 (except for 1969) had below normal rainfall. Similarly, 76% of the La Niña events examined had above normal rainfall (1964 is the only exception in recent decades).

The Ropelewski and Halpert (1987, 1989) studies demonstrate the spatial consistency of ENSO-generated rainfall anomalies in northeastern South America. However, they also show the absence of rainfall anomalies during some El Niño and La Niña events. As their studies did not extend beyond the 1982/83 El Niño, it is necessary to verify that ENSO teleconnections were temporally consistent in the last two decades. Thus, time series of rainfall and, for Guyana, river discharge, are analysed to confirm the impacts of ENSO on the hydrology of the region.

Since the spatial consistency of the ENSO signal has already been confirmed in the region, only a few weather stations were chosen in each country. The selection process favoured weather stations with a long time range and a small percentage of missing values. It was also desirable to optimise the geographical coverage of the country, yet in some regions the selection was severely limited and the use of weather stations with a shorter temporal record was necessary.

All weather stations in French Guiana, Suriname and Guyana display positive and statistically significant Pearson's correlations (at the 95% confidence level) between the SOI and rainfall, showing the spatial coherence of ENSO-related rainfall anomalies in the region (Table 3.1). To facilitate the identification of wet and dry years (which will be associated with dengue and malaria epidemics in the following two chapters), standardised anomalies of total annual rainfall were calculated to create national rainfall composite indices. In order not to attribute the period of best correlation with ENSO to two different years, and since drier conditions usually appeared in May (0) during El Niño episodes and persist until the following April (Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987), averages were calculated from May through April of the following year. Rainfall anomalies generally appear in May during El Niño episodes, because SSTs are usually 0.2°C above normal between March (0) and June (0) (Wang, 1995). Accordingly, the phase of the SO usually changes around March and rarely between June and January (during most El Niño events, negative rainfall anomalies appear immediately following the reversal of the SOI or lag by 1 to 2 months (Nicholls, 1986).

Name (country)	Latitude/longitude	Elevation (m)	Rainfall record	Pearson correlation
Cayenne (FG)	4.8°N/52.4°W	9	1956-1998	0.66
Maripasoula (FG)	3.6°N/54.0°W	104	1960-1985	0.50
St.Georges (FG)	3.9°N/51.8°W	2	1961-1985	0.51
Coeroeni (SU)	3.4°N/57.3°W	148	1961-1986	0.55
Paramaribo (SU)	5.8°N/55.2°W	2	1956-1998	0.43
Nickerie (SU)	6.0°N/57.0°W	4	1956-1998	0.49
Sipaliwini (SU)	2.0°N/56.1°W	243	1961-1986	0.72
Georgetown (GY)	6.8°N/58.2°W	2	1956-1997	0.64
Ebini (GY)	5.6°N/57.8°W	29	1956-1998	0.60

Table 3.1. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in French Guiana (FG), Suriname (SU), and Guyana (GY) and maximum correlation with the SOI (i.e., when the SOI precedes the rainfall anomalies by 0 to 2 months).

The rainfall composite indices of French Guiana (Figure 3.1), Suriname (Figure 3.2), and Guyana (Figure 3.3) show that all the El Niño events during the 1956-1998 period were associated with below average rainfall in years Niño (0). (In all graphs of this thesis, EN and LN refer to El Niño and La Niña events, respectively.) For some events, notably 1957/58, 1982/83, and 1986/87, anomalies even persisted in years Niño (+1) in the three countries. During the 1991/92 El Niño, however, rainfall was approximately normal in year Niño (0) in Suriname, and negative anomalies occurred only in the following year. Moreover, anomalous rainfall was not recorded in 1993 in Guyana. Although below average rainfall was recorded in 1964, all other La Niña episodes were associated with more abundant rainfall in Niña (0) in the three countries.



Figure 3.1. Rainfall composite index of French Guiana. Prior to 1961 and after 1985, rainfall data were available from Cayenne only. Also, precipitation data were not available from any weather station between 1990 and 1994.



Figure 3.2. Rainfall composite index of Suriname.



Figure 3.3. Rainfall composite index of Guyana.

The national average of monthly river discharge anomalies in Guyana was calculated from four rivers. River discharge anomalies closely follow rainfall variations with all rivers experiencing lower and higher discharge during El Niño and La Niña events, respectively (Table 3.2). As for rainfall, river discharge was not

below average during the 1993 El Niño (Figure 3.4). Rainfall anomalies are often lowest at the end of Niño (0). Because of the lag time between rainfall and peak in river discharge (approximately two months in this country), the lowest river discharge anomalies commonly occur during Niño (+1). In fact, during all El Niño events of the 1956 to 1998 period, the lowest river discharge has always been recorded in years Niño (+1).

Table 3.2. Maximum correlation between the SOI and river discharge anomalies in Guyana (i.e., when the SOI precedes the river discharge anomalies by 4 months).

River	Gauging station	Record length	Pearson correlation	
Berbice	Itabru Falls	1961-1988	0.61*	
Demerara	Great Falls	1956-1997	0.59*	
Essequibo	Plantain Island	1956-1998	0.66*	
Mazaruni	Apaikwa	1956-1998	0.47*	

*Statistically significant at the 95% confidence level



Figure 3.4. Time evolution of the SOI and composite index of river discharge anomalies in Guyana.

Poveda and Mesa (1995) provided evidence of a relationship between ENSO and hydroclimatological variables (i.e., rainfall and river discharge) in Colombia. They found that El Niño is usually associated with below average rainfall and decreased river discharge in most Colombian regions. The Amazon and Llanos regions, situated east of the Andes, were not included in their analysis (Poveda and Rojas, 1997). La Niña, on the other hand, generally engenders opposite climatic effects from El Niño years. Similar research by Quesada and Caviedes (1992) support the above findings. However, no relationship was found for the Fundación river (in the Caribbean region) and Guayuruba river (located east of the Andes).

Correlation between the SOI and monthly total rainfall was calculated for various weather stations in Colombia. Most correlation coefficients are positive, implying drier and wetter conditions in El Niño and La Niña years, respectively (Table 3.3). Only in Barranquilla and Gaviotas is the correlation with ENSO not statistically significant. Barranquilla is located in the same region as the Fundación River, where Quesada and Caviedes (1992) observed no relationship between its discharge and ENSO. The correlation between rainfall anomalies and ENSO at Cartagena, located south-west of Barranquilla, is of magnitude similar to the rest of the country, indicating that the lack of an ENSO signal on precipitation in northern Colombia is limited to the northeastern Caribbean region. The rainfall record of Gaviotas, as well as the river discharge of the Guayuriba river, demonstrates that the hydrology of eastern Colombia is not correlated with ENSO.

Accordingly, river height is inversely related to ENSO and shows an even stronger correlation than with rainfall, as it is considerably less variable than precipitation. Changes in river height are the result of rainfall anomalies over a large area and are therefore less affected by higher-frequency local variability. River height is also influenced by evapotranspiration and soil moisture, which are affected by temperature anomalies generated by ENSO (Table 3.4; Poveda and Mesa, 1995). Only the Guaviare River, situated in eastern Colombia, has no correlation with ENSO, providing further evidence for the lack of an ENSO impact on precipitation in eastern Colombia.

Name	Latitude/longitude	Elevation (m)	Rainfall record	Pearson
				correlation
Barranquilla	10.9°N/74.8°W	21	1959-1986	0.24
Bogotá	4.7°N/74.2°W	2548	1951-1998	0.49*
Cartagena	10.5°N/75.5°W	12	1951-1998	0.48*
Cúcuta	7.6°N/72.6°W	1235	1951-1990	0.60*
Gaviotas	4.6°N/70.9°W	167	1969-1998	-0.13
Medellin	6.2°N/75.6°W	1499	1951-1983	0.48*
Neiva	3.0°N/75.3°W	443	1964-1998	0.49*
Quibdo	5.4°N/76.4°W	53	1958-1991	0.48*

Table 3.3. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Colombia and their maximum correlation with the SOI (rainfall anomalies occur in the same month).

*Statistically significant at the 95% confidence level

A national average of standardised anomalies was calculated using all Colombian gauging stations to identify wet and dry years at the national scale. The Guaviare river, in eastern Colombia, was excluded from calculations, because of its lack of correlation with ENSO. All the El Niño and La Niña events selected for this thesis were associated with below and above average river height, respectively, with extreme values occurring by the end of the Niño (0) and Niña (0) or the following year (Figure 3.5). Hence, this figure demonstrates a significant impact of ENSO on the hydrology of Colombia.

Table 3.4. Maximum correlation between the SOI and river height anomalies in Colombia. All correlation coefficients have their maximum value when the SOI precedes the river height anomalies by 1 to 2 months with the exception of the Atrato and San Juan rivers (both located in the Pacific coastal region), which experience their maximum correlation in the same month.

River	Gauging station	Record length	Correlation
Magdalena	Puerto Berrio	1972-1995	0.55*
U	El Banco	1976-1998	0.59*
	Calamar	1971-1997	0.65*
Cauca	La Pintada	1977-1997	0.65*
Guaviare	Candilejas	1982-1997	0.13
San Juan	Peñitas	1980-1997	0.67*
Atrato	Bellavista	1971-1998	0.67*

*Statistically significant at the 95% level



Figure 3.5. Time evolution of the SOI and composite index of river height anomalies in Colombia (maximum correlation is 0.72 when the SOI precedes river height anomalies by 1 month).

Below average rainfall in Colombia, Suriname, and the Guianas during El Niño episodes is explained by a weakening of the South Pacific high pressure cell, which allows the Inter-Tropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ) to move further south. Moreover, El Niño years decreases the SST gradient between the Colombian coast and the normally cold waters off Peru and Ecuador, reducing the winds and moisture advection into western Colombia (Poveda and Mesa, 1995), which is one of the rainiest places in the Americas (Snow, 1976). The climatological mean of total annual precipitation at Quibdo, for example, is more than 7,860 mm, in comparison to 846 mm at Barranquilla in the Caribbean region (Snow, 1976). No statistically significant correlation was found between rainfall and the SOI in Colombia's Amazon or in the Caribbean region of northeastern Colombia. The analysis of the rainfall record of neighbouring Venezuela will identify the spatial extent of this anomalous region along the Caribbean coast.

Venezuela is divided into three climatic regions: the northern and western areas (extending from *Peninsula de Paria* to the Colombian border, and including the Maracaibo basin), the Llanos, and the Guyana highlands (Figure A4.3). The Llanos is a vast plain of low elevation in central Venezuela that extends to northeastern Colombia. The Guyana highlands region is situated in the southeastern portion of the country. The highlands are a rainforest ecosystem that covers more than a third of Venezuela (Snow, 1976). As in other countries of northern South America, the correlation between rainfall anomalies and the SOI was calculated at various weather stations, representing all regions of Venezuela.

No statistically significant correlation was found in the Llanos and the northern and western regions of Venezuela. Moreover, standardised anomalies of total annual rainfall (May through April of the following year) were computed at each weather station and no consistent pattern could be identified. Pulwarty *et al.* (1992) studied the relationship between ENSO and rainfall in Venezuela from 1972 through 1985. Similarly, they did not identify a statistically significant correlation between the SOI and rainfall anomalies in the Llanos and the dry coastal region. They demonstrated, however, a correlation during the December-February season in the Maracaibo basin and the Andes (i.e., west of 70°W).

In the northern Guyana highlands of Venezuela, no statistically significant correlation was found. Pulwarty *et al.* (1992), however, found that rainfall anomalies are weakly correlated with the SOI (r = 0.34) in this region but also only during the December-February season. Only in the southern Guyana highlands was a temporally consistent correlation between the SOI and rainfall identified in this thesis (r = 0.59 at Santa Elena when the SOI precedes the rainfall anomalies by two months; cf., Figure A4.3). Standardised anomalies of total annual rainfall at Santa Elena (i.e., May through April of the following year) show that all El Niño events during the 1956-1988 period were associated with below average rainfall. Anomalies were weak, however, during the 1986/87 episode. Except for 1970, all Niña (0) years had more abundant rainfall.

Rainfall anomalies are therefore significantly correlated with ENSO in the southern Guyana highlands. Correlations also exist in the Maracaibo basin and in the northern Guyana highlands, but they are significant only during the December-February season. However, the southern Guyana highlands are represented by only one weather station, because of the scarcity of meteorological observations in the region. Analysis of Brazil's Amazon will identify the consistency of ENSO teleconnections in the 1990s and provide a more comprehensive representation of the inter-annual variability of rainfall in the Amazon basin.

3.2 Brazil

There is evidence of below average rainfall and river discharge in Brazil's Amazon region during El Niño. Nobre and de Oliveira (1986) demonstrated that precipitation was below normal during the 1982/83 El Niño. Indeed, reduction in rainfall greater than 0.5 standard deviation was reported in the region during the 1983 hydrological year, which extended from October 1982 through September 1983. The lowest anomalies were found in the central Amazon where only 100 mm of rain fell in January and February compared to the mean total precipitation during this period of 600 mm.

Richey *et al.* (1989) demonstrated that El Niño (La Niña) generally precedes low (high) discharge values of the Amazon River. Amarasekera *et al.* (1997) found a similar relationship with the Negro river at Manaus, and further noted that the correlation between its annual discharge and SST climaxes with the SSTs of the December (-1) through May (0) period (r = -0.31). Similarly, river discharge was very high during the 1975/76 and 1988/89 La Niña events (Molion, 1993).

The correlation between ENSO and rainfall in north equatorial Brazil is weak but statistically significant at most weather stations (Table 3.5). Only at Porto Velho, located in the southern limit of Brazil's Amazon, is the correlation between ENSO and rainfall not statistically significant. As in other countries of northern South America, standardised anomalies of total annual precipitation were calculated from May through April of the following year. The rainfall composite index of Brazil's Amazon (excluding Porto Velho) shows that all Niño (0) years (except for 1986 and 1993) were associated with below average rainfall (Figure 3.6). During the 1986/87 El Niño, rainfall was below average in year Niño (+1) only, and the 1993 warm event did not engender negative rainfall anomalies. In 1994, positive rainfall anomalies were recorded at Manaus; at São Gabriel, however, rainfall was below average and resulted in a regional time series with weak negative rainfall anomalies during that year. Although rainfall anomalies were close to normal conditions in 1964, all other La Niña episodes resulted in more abundant rainfall in the region.

Table 3.5. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Brazil's Amazon, and maximum correlation with the SOI (i.e., at a 2-month lag maximum).

Name	Latitude/longitude	Elevation (m)	Rainfall record	Pearson correlation
Boa Vista	2.8°N/60.7°W	90	1956-1986	0.48*
Manaus	3.1°N/60.0°W	72	1956-1998	0.38*
Porto Velho	8.8°S/63.9°W	95	1956-1998	0.11
São Gabriel	0.1°S/67.1°W	90	1956-1985; 1993-1998	0.39*

*Statistically significant at the 95% confidence level



Figure 3.6. Rainfall composite index of Brazil's Amazon.

3.3 Western South America

El Niño is known to generate abundant rainfall in southern Ecuador and northern Peru (Evans *et al.*, 1999). In addition to causing a southward displacement of the ITCZ, El Niño engenders an increase of SSTs along the coast. These atmospheric perturbations result in an average 88% increase in total annual rainfall in the northern coastal region of Peru (Tapley and Waylen, 1990). However, annual total precipitation in El Niño years is not statistically different from other years in Peru's coastal region south of approximately latitude 10°S to the Bolivian border (Tapley and Waylen, 1990).

As explained in Section 2.4, the method used to identify years with statistically significant rainfall anomalies in Ecuador and Peru is different from the other two geographical regions, because we are interested on the impacts of El Niño only in this region. Annual total rainfall at Piura airport was calculated from September through August in order not to attribute the rainy season (i.e., from October to June) to two calendar years (Tapley and Waylen, 1990). For example, the hydrological year 1983 extends from September 1982 through August 1983. In this section, the statistical significance of the annual anomalies was calculated using Rossel's (1999) method, that is an anomaly has to be at least one half a standard deviation above the mean to be statistically significant. This method is not necessary in northern South America and Southeast Asia, as the statistical significance of the correlation between ENSO and rainfall have been determined in previous research. The year 1983 was excluded in the calculation of the long-term mean because the extreme hydrological anomalies during this event would considerably minimise the statistical significance of other warm events (it would importantly increase the standard deviation, which is the criterion used to determine the threshold value).

All El Niño years were associated with above average rainfall in northern coastal Peru, with extreme rainfall during the very strong 1982/83 El Niño (Figure 3.7). In 1993 and 1994, rainfall anomalies were not above the threshold value (i.e., one half a standard deviation above the mean). The 1997/98 El Niño, which was of magnitude similar to the 1982/83 El Niño, also had extreme rainfall, even though data were obtained for the first four months of the 1998 hydrological year only. Similarly, discharge of the Piura river in the same region was above the threshold value during all El Niño events, including the 1993 and 1994/95 episodes (Figure 3.8).

The Altiplano (i.e., the plateau between the two cordilleras of southern Peru) experiences an average 18% decrease in total annual precipitation during El Niño events (Tapley and Waylen, 1990). Similarly, water levels of Lake Titicaca, bordering Bolivia, are substantially low in El Niño years (Caviedes, 1984; Figure A4.4).

Tapley and Waylen (1990) did not extend their study to Peru's Amazon, located east of the Andes. Rainfall data were obtained from Iquitos and Yurimaguas, two weather stations located in the department of Loreto, and from the weather station of Pucallpa, in the department of Ucayali (cf., Figure A4.3). The lag zero correlation coefficients between standardised rainfall anomalies and the SOI are 0.04, 0.09, and 0.31 at Iquitos, Yurimaguas, and Pucallpa, respectively. Only the correlation at Pucallpa is statistically significant, peaking at a two-month lag. However, it is temporally weak, explaining only 11% of the variance in rainfall variations.

Ecuador displays spatial variations in climate variability related to El Niño. El Niño is associated with abundant rainfall in the coastal region from Esmeraldas (in the northern part of the country) to the Peruvian border (cf., Figure A4.2). Most El Niño events between 1964 and 1993 were associated with above average rainfall in the region. The only exceptions are the 1965 and 1969 El Niños. In 1965, rainfall anomalies were not spatially consistent; and in 1969, the entire coastal region had below average rainfall. No relationship was found, however, between El Niño and annual rainfall in the inter-Andean valleys and the Amazonian slope. The region along the northern coast (mid-way between Esmeraldas and San Lorenzo to the Colombian border; cf., Figure A4.2) and the western slopes of the Andes is affected by ENSO, but the relationship is not as temporally consistent as in southern Ecuador (Rossel *et al.*, 1999).

Rossel *et al.*'s (1999) method was used to identify rainfall anomalies in more recent years in Ecuador's coastal region. Anomalies were calculated for Portoviejo (cf., Figure A4.2) by subtracting total annual rainfall from the long-term mean. As in coastal Peru, the 1983 and 1998 El Niño years were excluded from the statistical calculations, because their extreme values would have considerably minimise the influence of other El Niño episodes. In more recent years, only the strong 1997/98 El Niño generated extreme rainfall at Portoviejo. Total annual rainfall during the 1993 and 1994/95 El Niño events was below normal (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.7. Total annual precipitation at Piura airport (data for 1998 were available for the first four months only).



Figure 3.8. Discharge of the Piura river (data for 1998 were available for the first nine months only).

El Niño has a significant impact on rainfall anomalies in coastal Ecuador and northern Peru due to the proximity of the region to the Pacific Ocean. The Andes, however, limit the impact of El Niño in both the inter-Andean valleys and the Amazon region of those two countries.



Figure 3.9. Precipitation anomalies at Portoviejo.

3.4 Southeast Asia

During El Niño, the weakening of the trade winds displaces the centre of deep convection to the central equatorial Pacific, causing dryness in Indonesia and Sarawak. Conversely, convection is enhanced during La Niña episodes (Roswintiarti, 1994). Drought during the dry season (i.e., May to November) in Indonesia coincides with El Niño events (Quinn *et al.*, 1978). The recent 1997/98 El Niño, for example, engendered a severe drought that caused hundreds of forest fires throughout the archipelago. A drought was also reported from 1990 through 1994, and was associated with the extended El Niño of the early 1990s (Evans *et al.*, 1979). Accordingly, 80% of the El Niño events that occurred between 1879 and 1982 were associated with below normal rainfall between June (0) and November (0). Although rainfall was not anomalous in 1964, above average rainfall was recorded from July (0)

through December (0) during all other La Niña events since 1955 (Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987, 1989).

Roswintiarti (1994) performed a more detailed analysis of the relationship between ENSO (as indicated by the sea level pressure at Darwin) and rainfall at 10 Indonesian weather stations. She found that the impact of ENSO on precipitation is stronger in central and eastern Indonesia. Rainfall variations at the westernmost weather stations, all located on the island of Sumatra (i.e., Banda Aceh, Medan, and Padang), were not correlated with ENSO. On the island of Java, a statistically significant correlation exists, but only between September (0) and November (0). Farther east, the relationship is statistically significant from June (0) through November (0).

The correlation between ENSO and rainfall is therefore statistically significant for only a short time period, particularly on the island of Java. Consequently, the calculation of a correlation coefficient between the SOI and total annual rainfall (as done for northern South America) would be unrevealing. As a result, the analysis in this region consists of identifying the wet and dry years only, using a few weather stations situated in areas where a statistically significant correlation between ENSO and rainfall has previously been identified. These areas are listed in Table 3.6. Since the impacts of ENSO on rainfall are stronger during the dry season, and since drier conditions in El Niño years usually appear in January (0), standardised anomalies of total annual rainfall were calculated from January through December (Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987).

Most El Niño episodes (the 1986/87 and 1993 events were exceptions) produced dryness in central and eastern Indonesia (Figure 3.10). During the latter two events, the national rainfall composite index should be viewed with caution, because rainfall anomalies varied within the islands of Indonesia during the 1986/87 El Niño and rainfall data were available for Jakarta only in 1993. Rainfall was abundant during all Niña (0) years, although anomalies were small during the 1964 event.

In Sarawak, Malaysia, all the major El Niño episodes engendered dryness between 1960 and 1991. Conversely, above average rainfall was recorded during all the La Niña events between 1960 and 1991 (Cheang, 1993). Although above average rainfall was recorded in 1994, all other Niño (0) years in more recent years were associated with less abundant rainfall (Figure 3.11). All La Niña episodes, on the other hand, led to more abundant rainfall.

Name	Latitude/longitude	Elevation (m)	Years of record
Banjarmasin (IN)	3.4°S/114.8°E	20	1961-1988
Denpasar (IN)	8.8°S/115.2°E	1	1961-1984
Jakarta (IN)	6.2°S/106.8°E	8	1961-1995
Menado (IN)	1.5°S/124.9°E	80	1961-1984
Palembang (IN)	2.9°S/104.7°E	10	1961-1983
Pontianak (IN)	0.2°S/109.4°E	3	1961-1991
Surabaya (IN)	7.2°S/112.7°E	3	1961-1990
Yogyakarta (IN)	7.8°S/110.4°E	107	1961-1984
Bintulu (SK)	3.2°N/113.0°E	9	1961-1980 and 1988-
			1998
Kuching (SK)	1.5°N/110.3°E	26	1961-1998
Miri (SK)	4.4°N/114.0°E	51	1961-1980 and 1991-
			1998
Dagupan (PH)	16.1°N/120.3°E	2	1961-1997
Iloilo (PH)	10.7°N/122.6°E	8	1961-1995
Legaspi (PH)	13.1°N/123.7°E	17	1961-1997
Tacloban (PH)	11.3°N/125.0°E	3	1961-1997
Zamboanga (PH)	6.9°N/122.1°E	6	1961-1996

Table 3.6. Location, elevation and years of record of weather stations in Indonesia (IN), Sarawak (SK), and the Philippines (PH).

A strong relationship also exists between El Niño and dryness in the Philippines. Drier conditions generally appear in September (0), but the relationship is stronger from October (0) through May (+1). Similarly, the best correlation with La Niña extends from September (0) through May (+1). Between 1957 and 1982, all El Niño events were associated with below average rainfall during this period. Many La Niña years were associated with above normal rainfall, but the relationship is not statistically significant (at the 90% confidence level). Nevertheless, since 1954, all the La Niña events (except for 1964) had above normal rainfall from September (0) through May (+1) (Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987, 1989).



Figure 3.10. Rainfall composite index of Indonesia.



Figure 3.11. Rainfall composite index of Sarawak (Malaysia).

In addition to drier and wetter conditions from October (0) through May (+1) in the Philippines, rainfall anomalies opposite to those during the above period generally occur between June (0) and August (0) (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989;

Ropelewski and Halpert, 1987). Because the opposite climatic signals during different time periods of the same ENSO event would decrease the magnitude of the annual correlation coefficient, a correlation coefficient between rainfall and the SOI would be inappropriate in this country. Therefore, the analysis consists of identifying wet and dry years only using five weather stations scattered across the archipelago (cf., Table 3.6). Standardised rainfall anomalies were calculated from September (month of the appearance of both El Niño and La Niña conditions) through May of the following year. Wetter conditions during La Niña do not persist beyond this month. Most El Niño episodes (except for 1965 and 1993) engendered below average rainfall in the Philippines (Figure 3.12). In 1965, rainfall anomalies were not spatially consistent throughout the archipelago; and in 1993, more abundant rainfall was recorded at all weather stations. Similarly, all Niña (0) years were associated with above average rainfall.



Figure 3.12. Rainfall composite index of the Philippines. (No data available for 1977.)

Kiladis and Diaz (1989) found that in Thailand drier conditions usually occur from June (0) through August (0). In contrast, wetter conditions were found from September (0) through November (0) in some regions. Because of the large spatial extent of the study, specific delimitation of this area is unworkable. No correlation was found from December (0) through February (+1), and dry conditions prevail in central and southern Thailand from March (+1) through May (+1).

Rainfall time series of six Thai weather stations were analysed to delimit the spatial extent of the relationships mentioned above (Table 3.7). The analysis consists of identifying wet and dry seasons during El Niño and La Niña events for the same quarterlies as Kiladis and Diaz (1989). The average standardised anomaly of each quarterly period was calculated at each weather station.

Name	Latitude/longitude	Elevation (m)	Years of record
Bangkok	13.7°N/102.6°E	20	1961-1998
Chiang Mai	18.8°N/100.0°E	314	1961-1998
Nakhon Sawan	15.8°N/100.2°E	35	1961-1998
Prachuap	11.8°N/99.8°E	5	1961-1998
Songkhla	7.2°N/100.6°E	5	1961-1998
Udon Thani	17.4°N/102.8°E	182	1961-1998

Table 3.7. Location, elevation, and years of record of weather stations in Thailand.

El Niño usually generates drier conditions from June (0) through August (0) in northern Thailand (i.e. Chiang Mai, Nakhon Sawan, and Udon Thani), but the relationship is less clear during the last two El Niños (Table 3.8a). Similarly, wetter conditions were observed during all La Niña events (except for 1964) in the same region. In Bangkok, and particularly in southern Thailand (i.e., Prachuap and Songkhla), the relationship is not temporally consistent. Some El Niño events, for instance, were associated with more abundant rainfall, while others engendered below normal rainfall. During the September (0) through November (0) quarterly, wetter conditions occurred during three warm events in Bangkok, and one warm episode generated drier conditions. The relationship is neither temporally nor spatially consistent throughout the country for either El Niño or La Niña events (Table 3.8b). Table 3.8. Identification of dry and wet ENSO episodes for the June (0) through August (0) (a) and September (0) through November (0) (b) quarterlies. D and W refer to dry and wet ENSO events, respectively (the absence of a letter signifies normal conditions). Anomalies greater than one half a standard deviation are considered statistically different from normal conditions.

a) June (0)	unougn	August (0					
		[-Northern c	ities	-][\$	Southern cit	ties]
		Chiang	Nakhon	Udon	Bangkok	Prachuap	Songkhla
		Mai	Sawan	Thani			
Niño (0)	1965	D			D		W
	1972	D		D	D	W	
	1976	D					
	1982	D		D		W	
	1986	D				D	D
	1991		D				W
	1993	D	D	D	W	D	D
	1994	W				W	
	1997	W	D	W	D	W	W
Niña (0)	1964			D		D	
	1970	W	W	W	W		W
	1973	W	W		D	W	
	1975	W					
	1988		W				W

a) June (0) through August (0)

b)	September	(0)	through	November	(0)
----	-----------	-----	---------	----------	-----

, 1		[]	Northern cities]			-][Southern cities		
		Chiang Mai	Nakhon Sawan	Udon Thani	Bangkok	Prachuap	Songkhla	
Niño (0)	1965				W	<u> </u>		
	1972				W		W	
	1976					W		
	1982					D		
	1986		D		W			
	1991	D	D					
	1993	D		D	D	D	W	
	1994		D	W		D	D	
	1997			D		D		
Niña (0)	1964		W		D		D	
	1970	D		W				
	1973		D			W		
	1975			W				
	1988		W					

Drier conditions generally prevail in northern Thailand from June (0) through August (0). In other regions and for other time periods, the relationships are neither temporally nor spatially consistent throughout the country. In summary, we illustrated in this chapter that El Niño generates more abundant rainfall in the coastal regions of Ecuador and Peru, while drier and wetter conditions generally occur during El Niño and La Niña events respectively in almost all of northern South America and Southeast Asia. The magnitudes of those anomalies are summarised in Table 3.9. In addition to rainfall anomalies, the following section will demonstrate that all the regions studied experience temperature anomalies related to ENSO.

Table 3.9. Percentage change in median precipitation during El Niño and La Niña events in northeastern South America, the Philippines, and Indonesia-Sarawak (based on Ropelewski and Halpert, 1996, p. 1045).

Region	Period	Median precipitation (mm)	El Niño (decrease)	La Niña (increase)	
N.A. S.America ¹	Jul (0)-Mar (+1)	1100		15%	8%
the Philippines	Oct (0)-May (+1)	1705		20%	16%
Indonesia- Sarawak	Jul (0)-Nov (0)	760		18%	20%

¹Northeastern South America refers to eastern Venezuela, Suriname, the Guianas, and north equatorial Brazil

3.5 Temperature

In general, El Niño generates warmer temperatures throughout the tropics, and La Niña produces cooler temperatures. In this section, the impact of ENSO on temperature is analysed for all El Niño and La Niña events that occurred between 1956 and 1998 in the three study regions. The number of weather stations selected is small because ENSO-related temperature anomalies have a tendency to be of broad spatial extent, and previous research has already delimited the spatial extent of those anomalies (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989). Temperature data were obtained from airports to minimise the urban heat island effect (which is likely to exist in cities of developing countries, because of rapid urbanisation).

Because of the proximity of the Peruvian coastal stations to the Pacific Ocean, all weather stations along the Peruvian coast have a strong and immediate correlation with ENSO (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989). During all El Niño episodes since 1956, air temperatures rose as soon as the SSTs became positive in the eastern Pacific Ocean. Likewise, cooler temperatures were recorded during all La Niña events. A similar correlation is observed along the Ecuadorian coast, though data were not available after 1991.

In the Andes (e.g. Quito), where El Niño generates warmer temperatures and La Niña cooler temperatures, the relationship with ENSO is also strong, with the SOI leading the temperature anomalies by one month (data in this region were limited to the 1951-1980 period). Given the proximity of the region to the Pacific Ocean and the fact that all ENSO events prior to 1981 engendered temperature anomalies in the region, we will assume that the relationship was also temporally consistent in more recent years. East of the Andes, the temperature record is scarce and the presence of inhomogeneities in the time series of both Iquitos and Pucallpa (in Peru's Amazon) impede adequate analysis (a constant increase in temperature until the early 1960s and a step-like decrease in mean temperature in 1973). The presence of the Andes isolates this region from the direct impact of the Pacific Ocean; analysis of the temperature record of Brazil and northern South America will reveal the impact of ENSO east of this orographic barrier.

Since the temperature anomalies during ENSO events are spatially coherent throughout northern South America, i.e., warmer temperatures during El Niño and cooler temperatures during La Niña (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989), analysis for this region consisted of calculating a regional temperature composite index. This index is comprised of 11 weather stations that all have a strong and statistically significant correlation with the SOI (Table 3.10). The SOI leads the temperature anomalies by approximately three months (r = -0.75). As during the development of an El Niño event, the SOI generally reverses sign in March (0) and warmer conditions generally appear in June (0) in this region (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989).

All La Niña events engendered cooler temperatures, while all El Niño episodes (except for 1993) were associated with warmer temperatures, often peaking by the end of Niño (0) (Figure 3.13). The magnitude of the anomalies was minimal, however, in 1976 and 1977. In fact, during the 1976/77 episode, most weather stations in the region reported normal conditions. The following section examines the consistency of ENSO-related temperature anomalies in Southeast Asia.

Table 3.10. List of weather station used in the calculation of the temperature composite index of northern South America and their maximum correlation with the SOI. All correlation coefficients peak when the SOI precedes the temperature anomalies by 2 to 4 months. (Location and elevation of all selected weather stations are reported in previous sections.)

Name (Country)	Years of record	Correlation
Caracas (Venezuela)	1956-1989	-0.63*
Cartagena (Colombia)	1956-1991	-0.63*
Cayenne (French Guiana)	1956-1991 and 1995-1998	-0.63*
Cúcuta (Colombia)	1971-1998	-0.79*
Georgetown (Guyana)	1956-1998	-0.63*
Manaus (Brazil)	1956-1991	-0.58*
Maracaibo (Venezuela)	1956-1986 and 1994-1998	-0.65*
Neiva (Colombia)	1964-1993	-0.72*
Nickerie (Suriname)	1956-1980	-0.73*
São Gabriel (Brazil)	1956-1984	-0.72*
Sipaliwini (Suriname)	1961-1980	

*Statistically significant at the 95% confidence level



Figure 3.13. Time evolution of the SOI and temperature anomalies in northern South America.

In Southeast Asia, temperatures in El Niño years are warmer than average and spatially consistent throughout the region with the exception of the easternmost part of Indonesia (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989; NOAA, 2000). Analysis of six weather stations shows that at all stations, the correlation between temperature anomalies and the SOI

is positive and statistically significant (Table 3.11). Moreover, temperature anomalies generally become positive six months following the onset of El Niño.

Warmer than average temperatures generally occur during El Niño events in Indonesia (Harger, 1995). In fact, all El Niño episodes from 1971 through 1989 produced warmer temperatures at Surabaya (Figure 3.14). Temperatures were also warmer than normal during the 1994/95 and 1997/98 El Niños on the island of Borneo, but not in 1993 (as observed at Kuching in Sarawak). Moreover, the temperature record at Kuching and Surabaya demonstrates that all La Niña events (except for the 1988/89 episode) generated cooler temperatures in the region (cf., Figure 3.14). In comparison to previous years, temperature was decreasing during the 1988/89 cold event, but, because of the increasing trend in temperature in the time series, temperatures were not significantly below the long-term mean during this event.

Table 3.11. List of weather stations analysed for evidence of ENSO-related temperature anomalies in Southeast Asia, and their correlation with the SOI when it precedes the temperature anomalies by six months. (Location and elevation of all selected weather stations was reported in previous sections.)

Name (Country)	Years of record	Correlation
Bangkok (Thailand)	1956-1990	-0.52*
Dagupan (Philippines)	1956-1998	-0.47*
Kuching (Sarawak)	1956-1998	-0.55*
Legaspi (Philippines)	1956-1998	-0.53*
Surabaya ¹ (Indonesia)	1971-1990	-0.64*
Udon Thani (Thailand)	1956-1998	-0.60*

¹Latitude/longitude: 7.2°S/112.7°E; elevation: 3 m

*Statistically significant at the 95% confidence level

An increasing trend is present in the temperature time series of most weather stations. At Surabaya, for example, warming has been particularly pronounced in recent decades, as mean monthly temperature has increased by approximately 1.4 standard deviations from 1971 through 1989 (which roughly corresponds to 0.7°C) (cf., Figure 3.14). This trend is probably the result of more intense and frequent El Niños in the last two decades as well as global warming. Temperature data were obtained from airport weather stations to minimise the impact of rapid urbanisation.

Harger (1995) also reported an increasing trend in mean monthly temperatures of 1.64°C from 1866 to 1993 at Jakarta and Semarang (Indonesia).



Figure 3.14. Time evolution of the SOI and temperature anomalies at Surabaya (Indonesia). Also illustrated are the linear trend-lines of the SOI and temperature anomalies.

In the Philippines, the correlation between ENSO years and temperature anomalies is not as temporally consistent as in other countries. Some El Niño events were associated with warmer temperatures, and the opposite for La Niña episodes, but there were a few exceptions to the general pattern.

In Thailand, the relationship between ENSO and temperature anomalies is temporally coherent, as all El Niño events, including the 1976/77 episode, engendered warmer temperatures. Likewise, all cold episodes were associated with cooler temperature (except for the 1988/89 event).

Temperature anomalies during ENSO events occurred throughout most of the tropics, with a spatially coherent signal from December (0) through May (+1), corresponding to the mature and decay stages of El Niño. The relationship is especially temporally and spatially consistent in South America. The relationship is also strong in Southeast Asia, but less temporally consistent than in South America.

Annual mean temperature is on average only half a degree Celsius warmer or cooler during ENSO events, because of the small variability of tropical temperature. At Manaus, for instance, the maximum increase (decrease) in mean temperature during El Niño (La Niña) episodes is 0.6°C (-0.4°C) during the December (0)-February (+1) season (Kiladis and Diaz, 1989). Also of particular interest is the increasing trend in mean monthly temperatures present in most time series, as demonstrated for Surabaya, suggesting global warming.

3.6. Summary of temperature and hydrological anomalies during ENSO events

Summarised below are the climatic anomalies associated with El Niño in northern and western South America and Southeast Asia.

- Below average rainfall and warmer temperatures in French Guiana, Guyana, Suriname, southern Venezuela and most of Colombia (the region east of the Andes is an exception).
- Warmer temperatures and torrential rains in northern Peru and southern Ecuador
- Below average rainfall and warmer temperatures in Southeast Asia

Opposite climatic perturbations are generally observed during La Niña in northern South America and Southeast Asia. In the following two chapters, these climatic anomalies are correlated with dengue/DHF and malaria epidemics.

Chapter 4: ENSO and Dengue/DHF

Following a short review of the history of dengue and DHF, this chapter presents the results of an analysis correlating dengue/DHF epidemics with ENSO episodes in various South American and Southeast Asian countries. Because of the geographical spread of DHF in Southeast Asia and its recent emergence in South America, the possibility of including El Niño forecasts would be very useful for improving the current control of this disease.

4.1 History of Dengue/DHF in South America and Southeast Asia

In 1947 the PAHO launched a campaign to eradicate the mosquito vector carrying dengue fever, *Ae. aegypti* (Gubler and Clark, 1995; Reiter, 1996), because it also carries the potentially fatal disease yellow fever. Accordingly, dengue was successfully eradicated from most countries (Gómez-Dantés, 1991; Gubler and Clark, 1995) with the exception of Venezuela, which is the only country in the Americas that reported cases of dengue to the WHO during the eradication period. The eradication, however, did not last for long.

The end of the eradication programme resulted in re-infestation of the South American by *Ae. aegypti* slowly began in the 1960 (Gratz and Knudsen, 1996). By 1971 the entire Caribbean coast of Colombia was re-infested (WHO, 1976) and there is evidence that a dengue epidemic occurred in late 1971 and early 1972 in that region (Groot *et al.*, 1979). However, no dengue cases were officially reported prior to 1980 (Pinheiro and Corber, 1997).

In Suriname the first case of dengue was identified in 1978 but the incidence of the disease was very low in comparison to Colombia (Gratz and Knudsen, 1995). Nevertheless, outbreaks have occurred about every five years, more or less following the cyclical pattern of ENSO.

French Guiana was re-infested by *Ae. aegypti* in 1963 (Reynes, 1996). This territory documented its first confirmed case of dengue in 1965, and hence, has the longest dengue time series in South America (Fouque *et al.*, 1995). As opposed to the

other South American countries where only those dengue cases confirmed through blood examination are counted in the annual total, in French Guiana, the incidence of dengue represents the total number of suspected dengue cases.

In Guyana, the first case of dengue was documented in 1978. However, the disease was sporadic and many years have missing values. Moreover, no information could be obtained about the situation of the disease after 1992.

Brazil was re-infested *by Ae. aegypti* in 1976, but no dengue cases were reported prior to 1982. Moreover, Brazil was free from the disease from 1983 through 1985, and the disease reappeared between 1986 and 1987. In two states of the Nordeste region, dengue cases have consistently been reported since 1986 (Silveira, 1998), but they are located outside of the study area of this thesis (Silveira, 1998). Similarly, Ecuador and Peru reported their first cases of dengue in 1988 (MMWR, 1989) and 1990, respectively (MMWR, 1991).

Since El Niño events usually occur every two to seven years (Trenberth and Hoar, 1996), only countries with disease time series of at least 15 years are analysed in this thesis in order to study the influence of at least three major El Niño events on disease epidemics. Thus, Brazil, Guyana, Ecuador and Peru are not included in the present study. Colombia, French Guiana, Suriname and Venezuela are therefore the only countries in South America that have dengue time series of substantial length for further analysis.

As the eradication programme was limited to the Americas, Southeast Asian countries have longer dengue time series. Moreover, DHF is a common disease in most countries of the region. Following its first identification in 1953 in the Philippines, DHF spread to neighbouring countries and was first noticed in Thailand in 1958 and 10 years later in Indonesia. Today, DHF is endemic in most Southeast Asian countries and the national public health services limit their dengue reporting system to this form of the disease, as it has a high incidence and is the only fatal form of dengue. In Sarawak, the first case of dengue was reported in 1973, but its incidence was sporadic prior to 1981 (Chang *et al.*, 1981). Sarawak is therefore the only region in

Southeast Asia where the time series is sufficiently long for the analysis of the relationship between the classical form of dengue and ENSO.

4.2 Country-Specific Temporal Correlations

An outbreak is defined as a rapid increase in the incidence of a disease. The words "outbreak" and "epidemic" are used interchangeably in the health literature and thus refer to the same phenomenon. Most of the analysis in this thesis is done at the inter-annual time scale and an outbreak will therefore be defined as an anomalous increase in disease incidence from one year to the next. In this thesis, we consider an increase in dengue transmission as an outbreak when it is greater than one half a standard deviation above the mean (the mean value refers to the average change in the number of dengue cases reported between years over the time series). This method is commonly used to identify anomalies that are significantly higher than the mean (e.g., Rossel *et al.*, 1999).

To better visualise changes in disease incidence between years, the rate of change was calculated for each time series. The rate of change corresponds to the first order derivative with respect to time of annual dengue incidence. In other words, it signifies the change in the number of dengue cases standardised to the population reported from one year to the next. Depiction of the rate of change facilitates the identification of outbreaks because (1) it gives a mean close to zero, (2) it substantially reduces the increasing trend in disease incidence that is present in most time series, and (3) it clearly illustrates the variability in dengue transmission between years. (Reasons for the increasing trends in dengue and DHF incidence are discussed in Chapter 6.)

The time series of dengue in Colombia extends from 1981 through 1998 (Figure 4.1). All El Niño events (except for 1993) were associated with a peak in dengue transmission in Niño (+1) years. The 1983 and 1987 peaks, however, are slightly below the outbreak threshold value. All those peaks in dengue incidence occurred during years with warmer temperatures, less abundant rainfall, and lowered river height. Though the number of dengue cases increased in almost all Colombian

departments, the majority of cases originate from regions where ENSO significantly affects rainfall variations, as it is where most of the population lives (based on regional data from 1996 through 1998). In contrast to the other El Niño episodes, river height was increasing during the 1993 El Niño, possibly explaining the lack of outbreak during this year (cf., Figure 3.5).



Figure 4.1. Dengue in Colombia.



Figure 4.2. Dengue in French Guiana.
In French Guiana, five of the six El Niños during the 1965-1993 period were associated with an epidemics of dengue (the 1993 El Niño is the only exception) (Figure 4.2). In contrast to those in Colombia, dengue outbreaks in French Guiana generally occur in Niño (0) years. During the 1991/92 warm event, however, an epidemic started in July 1991, a Niño (0) year, and continued to peak in the following Niño (+1) year. As in Colombia, all those outbreaks were associated with less abundant rainfall and warmer temperatures (cf., Figures 3.1 and 3.13).

In Suriname, the analysis is limited to the 1978 through 1992 period, because dengue data were obtained for only two years after 1992. The number of dengue cases reported during those two years was very large in comparison to the rest of the time series, showing the increasing importance of dengue in the country. Dengue outbreaks occurred in 1986 and 1991, which are Niño (0) years (Figure 4.3). As in neighbouring French Guiana, these two epidemics were associated with warmer temperatures and less abundant rainfall (cf., Figure 3.2).



Figure 4.3. Dengue in Suriname.

Another outbreak affected Suriname in 1981. To avoid deterioration of the situation, emergency control measures soon followed (Hudson, 1986). Accordingly, the number of houses per 1000 persons that were sprayed annually from 1956 through

1991 (Figure 4.4), clearly depicts the intensification of insecticide sprayings during the 1982/83 El Niño, probably explaining further deterioration of the epidemic during the 1982/83 El Niño. After 1992, Suriname experienced dengue epidemics in 1993 and 1994, but the number of cases during those two years was not reported (PAHO, 1998b). These two years were Niño (0) and were also associated with below average rainfall (cf., Figure 3.2).



Figure 4.4. House insecticide sprayings in Suriname.

Dengue cases were reported during the 1942 to 1963 period in Venezuela (see Llopis *et al.*, 1979), but the disease was infrequent and this time interval was therefore discarded from the present study. After a period of higher incidence from 1964 to 1970 (Figure 4.5a), dengue was nearly eradicated from 1970 through 1988, with the exception of 1978, which was the year of a large epidemic with more than 100,000 classical dengue cases. Gratz and Knudsen (1996) attributed the 1978 epidemic to the insufficient control of *Aedes* population in the centre of the country. After nearly two decades of low incidence, Venezuelan health officials reported a dengue epidemic from December 1989 through April 1990. The first cases of DHF were identified





Figure 4.5. Dengue and DHF in Venezuela. Number of cases per 1000 persons (a) and rate of change (b). The disease was sporadic from 1970 through 1988.

Interestingly, dengue reappeared in Venezuela after a period of near eradication during the 1964 and 1988/89 La Niña episodes (cf., Figure 4.5a), but only in 1964 was an epidemic detected (Figure 4.5b). As in Colombia, the 1994/95 and

1997/98 El Niños were also associated with diengue epidemics. The lack of an uninterrupted time series of considerable length cloes not allow adequate conclusions to be made for Venezuela, especially because most years in the second part of the time series were El Niño years.

Unlike in South America where DHF is a recent disease, DHF has occurred in Southeast Asia since the 1950s. Because of the Lower incidence of DHF, the number of DHF cases is standardised to 100,000 persons (as opposed to 1000 persons as was the case for dengue). Most El Niño events, with the exception of the 1976/77, 1991/92 and 1993 events, were associated with DHF epidemics in Indonesia (Figure 4.6). Furthermore, the *Sub Direktorat Arbovircosis* in Jakarta (an agency reporting DHF cases in Indonesia) identified 1973, 1983, 1 988 and 1998 as the most important DHF epidemic years (R. Kusriastuti, *personal communication*). All these years, in addition to 1995, are Niño (+1) years (with the exception of 1988).



Figure 4.6. DHF in Indonesia.

With the exception of 1988, rainfall was below average in Indonesia during all years that preceded the epidemics of DHF (cf., Figure 3.10). From 1991 through 1998, only 5.3% of the total number of DHF cases reported in Indonesia originated from the western provinces situated on the island of Sumatra (i.e., Di Aceh, Sumatra

Utara, Sumatra Barat, Riau, and Jambi), where the relationship between ENSO and rainfall variations is not statistically significant.

In contrast to the other El Niños, the 1986/87 warm event produced two peaks in SSTs. The first peak occurred at the average time as most El Niños (December to January). However, SSTs also peaked in July and August of 1987 (Wang, 1995). As during most Niño (0) years, rainfall was below average in 1986 on the island of Borneo (cf., Figure 3.11), but excessive rainfall fell at the same time at Surabaya (on the island of Java), resulting in more abundant precipitation at the national scale in 1986. In 1987, a drought was reported at Jakarta (located at the other extreme of Java) as well as in southern Borneo. Hence, depending on the geographical origin of the 1988 epidemic, the epidemic could also have been preceded by a year with below average rainfall (regional epidemiological data are only available since 1991, however).

Data for the Philippines were obtained from three sources: A publication by Gratz and Knudsen (1996) (which is distributed by the WHO), the Regional Office of the WHO for the Western Pacific, and Pinheiro and Corber (1997). Most sources publish the number of DHF cases reported annually in the country. Data from the WHO's regional office, however, also include dengue cases. Pinheiro and Corber (1997) display similar data, although some values are missing. Contrary to the WHO publication, they mention that all dengue cases are of the haemorrhagic form (Table 4.1). This disagreement between the data published by public health scientists and those reported by the WHO was previously noted in Gratz and Knudsen (1996).

Analysis of the correlation between ENSO and dengue is ill advised in the Philippines, as there is no agreement in the annual number of dengue cases between the three sources of data. The Philippines will therefore be discarded from the dengue analysis, because the Philippine's department of health could not explain this disagreement. Nevertheless, they kindly provided the number of dengue admissions to sentinel hospitals from 1990 through 1998, but the time series (i.e., nine years) is too short for adequate analysis. (Sentinel hospitals, which can be either public or private,

report cases of all the notifiable diseases included in the surveillance network of the Philippines (N. Dominguez, *personal communication*)).

Year	Gratz and Knudsen	WHO-Regional Office	Pinheiro and Corber
	(1996)		(1997)
1954-1978	26120		
1980	627	968	
1981	324	123	123
1982	816	305	305
1983	1684	1684	1684
1984	2514	2545	2545
1985	2096	1520	
1986	1623	839	839
1987	1696	857	859
1988	2321	2922	2922
1989	2240	305	305
1990	1042	588	588
1991	1865	11317	
1992		918	
1993		21146	5715
1994		5603	5603
1995		5166	7413
1996		13614	13613
1997		12811	
1998		*31829	

Table 4.1. Annual dengue and DHF cases in the Philippines according to various sources.

* As of December 22

Annual cases of DHF in Thailand were also obtained from different sources: Gratz and Knudsen (1996), the WHO Documentation Centre in Thailand, Pinheiro and Corber (1997), and the Regional Office of the WHO for Southeast Asia. As opposed to the Philippines, the data from all sources coincide well with only minimal differences (the average of all sources was taken for the calculation of the rate of change). The 1986/87 El Niño was associated with the largest epidemic that ever occurred in this country (Figure 4.7). Nevertheless, no clear pattern is observed between DHF transmission and either phase of the SO, as only 3 out of 8 El Niño episodes (p = 0.38) and 1 out of 5 La Niña events (p = 0.20) were associated with DHF epidemics.



Figure 4.7. DHF in Thailand.

As previously mentioned the State of Sarawak is the only region in Southeast Asia where the relationship between ENSO and classical dengue was analysed. The time series, however, is short and includes only one La Niña event of moderate to strong intensity. The incidence of dengue closely follows that of DHF, except that the 1989 peak in DHF transmission preceded by one year the peak in dengue (Figure 4.8a).

The 1982/83 and 1986/87 El Niños coincided with DHF epidemics in Sarawak (Figure 4.8b). An outbreak of dengue also occurred in 1983 as well as during the 1997/98 El Niño, but not during the 1986/87 event (Figure 4.8c). Nevertheless, only 2 out of 6 El Niño events coincided with a dengue epidemic, and the same probability is observed for the occurrence of a DHF epidemic. In addition, a large epidemic of dengue and DHF occurred during the 1988/89 La Niña, which is the only cold event in the time series.



Figure 4.8. Dengue and DHF in Sarawak (Malaysia). Number of cases per 1000 persons (a), the rate of change of DHF (b), and the rate of change of dengue fever (c). (The magnitude of the rate of change of DHF is higher than the one of dengue, because DHF cases were standardised to 100,000 persons as opposed to 1000 for dengue.)

Contingency tables with Fisher's exact test were used to test for the statistical significance of the observed relationships. The four statistical hypotheses tested were that outbreaks of dengue and DHF are not more likely to occur during (a) Niño (0) than in other years, (b) Niño (+1) versus other years, (c) La Niña years versus other years.

A problem arises with the 1993 El Niño, since it is the only warm event that did not extend over two years. This episode could be considered an extension of the 1991/92 El Niño, because SSTs as well as the SOI and MEI did not reverse sign from 1990 through 1995. Nevertheless, three peaks are clearly evident in the time series of most ENSO indices, indicating the presence of three different warm events (cf., Figure 2.2). Most El Niño events are associated with increasing SSTs and strengthening SOI in Niño (0) and a weakening of El Niño conditions in Niño (+1). In 1993, the development and decay of El Niño occurred within the same year. Therefore, 1993 is an exception to the classification used in this thesis and is considered both a Niño (0) and Niño (+1) year in the statistical analyses.

Only in French Guiana and Indonesia is the relationship between El Niño and dengue transmission statistically significant at the 95% level. In Colombia and Suriname, it is also statistically significant, but at the 90% confidence level. Moreover, the risk of a dengue epidemic is high in Niño (0) years in French Guiana and Suriname versus Niño (+1) years in Colombia and Indonesia (Table 4.2).

In Colombia, the 1983 and 1987 peaks in dengue cases are slightly lower than the outbreak threshold value, explaining the statistical significance of the relationship at the 90% rather than the 95% confidence level. The high variability of the rate of change in the 1990s in comparison with the previous decade increases the standard deviation, resulting in peaks below one half the standard deviation in the 1980s. Calculation of two mean values and two standard deviations (i.e., prior to and after 1991) results in the consideration of the 1983 and 1987 peaks as outbreaks. However, due to the resulting high standard deviation in the 1990s, the 1994/95 peak becomes below the outbreak threshold value. The results are not influenced by these changes, however, so we conclude that the correlation between El Niño and dengue transmission is robust in Colombia.

Country	Niño (0)	Niño (+1)	La Niña years
Colombia	0.00	*0.92	-
French Guiana	*0.99	0.00	0.00
Indonesia	-	**0.97	0.78
Sarawak (dengue)	0.40	0.00	0.69
Sarawak (DHF)	0.42	0.00	0.75
Suriname	*0.91	-	_
Thailand	0.00	0.38	0.00
Venezuela	0.00	0.00	0.56

Table 4.2. Results of Fisher's exact test for dengue fever[†].

[†] Results refer to one minus the p-value

****** Statistically significant at the 95% level

* Statistically significant at the 90% level

(--) Not calculated since no epidemic occurred during this period.
¹ Computations started in 1967, because of the absence of year Niño (0) of the 1965/66 episode.

In Colombia and Suriname, where the relationship with El Niño is statistically significant, La Niña has no effect on the occurrence of dengue epidemics, as demonstrated by the lack of outbreak during all La Niña events. In French Guiana, only one of the four La Niña episodes were associated with a dengue epidemic, resulting in a probability of an epidemic during a La Niña event of only 0.25, which is not statistically significant. In Indonesia, the result of the statistical test is higher, i.e., 0.78, because of the 1973 and 1988 outbreaks (cf., Table 4.2). El Niño precedes the majority of La Niña events; the 1975/76 cold event is the only exception. Hence, Niño (+1) is occasionally the first year of a La Niña event (i.e., Niña (0)), as was the case in 1973. The 1988 outbreak is unlikely to have been caused by La Niña, because dengue cases started to increase during Niño (0). We therefore conclude that La Niña does not significantly affect the incidence of dengue and DHF in any of the countries studied.

In summary, El Niño and its associated warmer and drier climatic conditions generally precede dengue/DHF epidemics in Colombia, French Guiana, Indonesia, and Suriname. Physical explanations for these relationships are suggested in the discussion. In the following chapter, malaria epidemics are associated with ENSO

events in order to determine if relationships similar to dengue and DHF are observed for this vector-borne disease.

Chapter 5: ENSO and Malaria

This chapter presents the results of an analysis correlating ENSO with malaria epidemics. National analyses are grouped per geographical region, i.e., northern South America, Ecuador and Peru, and Southeast Asia. Physical explanations for the observed relationships are suggested in the following chapter.

5.1 Temporal Correlations in Northern South America

Prior the beginning of malaria control activities in 1949, malaria was endemic throughout French Guiana. The use of DDT and distribution of anti-malaria drugs such as chloroquine resulted in the near eradication of malaria in the region (Lepelletier *et al.*, 1989). From 1956 through 1971 only 12 to 117 malaria cases were reported annually, most originating from along the Maroni and Oyapock rivers, bordering Suriname and Brazil, respectively (Cochet *et al.*, 1996).

Although control activities continued, malaria incidence started to increase in the 1970s (Figure 5.1a). Population migration and immigration, which provide a new source of malaria parasites, are two suggested reasons for the increase in malaria transmission in the last two decades (Lepelletier *et al.*, 1989). Illegal Brazilian migrants looking for gold in the Oyapock river basin (i.e., garimperos) also explain part of the national increase, especially since 1985 (Esterre *et al.*, 1990).

A drastic increase in malaria transmission occurred in 1987, and the incidence of malaria remained high until 1990. Health authorities associated the 1987 outbreak with the political problems in Suriname, which forced many Surinamers to seek health treatment in French Guiana (Esterre *et al.*, 1990). Furthermore, the creation of health centres in remote areas tripled the number of blood slides examined (Cochet *et al.*, 1996; Lepelletier *et al.*, 1989). Thus, the high malaria incidence in the late 1980s and early 1990s could be explained by a more comprehensive malaria screening. Accordingly, early case detection is probably the cause for the decreasing trend in malaria transmission since 1990, as infected people are treated promptly, reducing the number of subsequent infections and thus epidemic risk.



Figure 5.1. Malaria in French Guiana. Cases per 1000 persons (a), and the corresponding rate of change (b). Because of the near eradication of malaria prior to 1971, early years were removed from the calculation of the rate of change.

Since malaria was nearly eradicated prior to the 1970s, the analysis for French Guiana only includes the 1971 through 1998 period. As non-climatic factors contributed to the 1987 epidemic (political problems in Suriname and improvement of the reporting system) and since no other warm event was associated with a malaria epidemic, there is no evidence of the influence of El Niño on malaria transmission in this territory. The 1989 epidemic, however, had over 6200 cases and occurred during a La Niña event.

Until the mid-1940s, malaria was the most important cause of death in Guyana (Mandle, 1970). Many of Guyana's coastal plains lie below sea level and are ideal breeding grounds for *Anopheles* mosquitoes. As in French Guiana, the use of DDT and chloroquine-containing salt resulted in the eradication of malaria from the coastal and near-interior regions of the country between 1945 and 1951 (Giglioli *et al.*, 1967; Mandle, 1970). Accordingly, the number of deaths due to malaria and other undefined fever decreased from 47.6 per 100,000 persons in 1950 to less than one per 100,000 persons in 1960. However, malaria was still endemic in the deep interior of the country, although only 10% of the population live in that region (*Giglioli et al.*, 1967). Thus, few malaria cases were reported from 1956 to 1972 (Figure 5.2a).

Reported malaria cases began to increase in Guyana in 1972, when imported and introduced cases from Brazil caused an 885% increase compared to 1971 (a malaria case is classified as introduced when secondary infection results from an imported case). In addition, the energy crisis of 1973-74 and global inflation severely affected the economy of Guyana, causing a reduction of anti-malaria measures (Giglioli *et al.*, 1976). As a result, malaria cases were reported once again from the entire Guyanese hinterland in 1975 (WHO, 1983). Another factor contributing to the increase in malaria after 1985 is the increase in exposure to *Anopheles* mosquitoes with expansion of gold and diamond mining. In the northwestern region of Guyana, for example, 97% of the cases of *falciparum* malaria were reported from mining areas in 1986 (Rambajan, 1994).

Malaria epidemics were observed during the 1986/87, 1991/92, 1994/95 and 1997/98 El Niños (Figure 5.2b). Guyana experienced below average rainfall during all those epidemics (cf., Figure 3.3). Although, the 1976/77 and 1982/83 El Niños limited the amount of rainfall in the country, no epidemics were reported. Emergency control measures in 1977 possibly explain the lack of outbreak during this year (WHO, 1979). No explanation is provided for the absence of epidemic during the 1982/83 El Niño.



Figure 5.2. Malaria in Guyana. Cases per 1000 persons (a), and rate of change (b). Because of the near eradication of malaria prior to 1975, early years were removed from the calculation of the rate of change. (No data available for 1996.)

Although malaria was eradicated from the coastal region of Suriname between 1950 and 1960 (Rozendaal, 1991), it was still considerable in other regions. Data are not available for 1993, but beginning in 1994, the number of malaria cases increased dramatically (Figure 5.3a). Malaria epidemics occurred during the 1957/58, 1965/66, and 1994/95 El Niños. All those epidemics took place during years with warmer and

drier climatic conditions (cf., Figures 3.2 and 3.13). No outbreak was reported during the 1976/77, 1982/83, 1986/87, and 1991/92 El Niños, even though warmer and drier conditions prevailed in most of those years.



Figure 5.3. Malaria in Suriname. Cases per 1000 persons (a), and rate of change (b).

The number of malaria cases increased in Suriname in 1973, a Niño (+1) year, but the peak was slightly below the outbreak threshold value (Figure 5.3b). This increase, however, also coincided with the 1973/74 La Niña, because the number of malaria cases increased and peaked in 1974, the decay year of the La Niña episode. Similarly, an epidemic occurred started during the weak 1995 Niña (0) year, and peaked in the following Niña (+1) year. Nevertheless, malaria incidence was low during the 1964 and 1975/76 La Niña events.

In Venezuela two prominent peaks are evident in the malaria time series (Figure 5.4a). These two epidemics occurred during La Niña episodes (i.e., 1970/71, and 1988/89) and were preceded by an El Niño event (i.e., 1969 and 1986/87) (Figure 5.4b). Also, an outbreak occurred during the 1964 La Niña and was preceded by the weak 1963 El Niño. The 1983 epidemic occurred during an El Niño event and was not associated with a La Niña year. The rise in malaria cases in 1983 was the result of increased internal and international migratory movements (WHO, 1985). Other El Niño episodes not followed by a La Niña event did not engender malaria epidemics.

Malaria was previously eradicated from the northern region of Venezuela (WHO, 1975). In the southern region, however, malaria is still a common disease today, with, on average, 24,170 malaria cases reported annually from 1990 through 1998. The areas with high risk of malaria transmission in Venezuela are the states of Amazonas and Bolivar (WHO, 1996), as well as the eastern part of the states of Apure and Delta Amacuro (PAHO, 1994b) (cf., Figure A4.3). The state of Delta Amacuro is located at the mouth of the Orinoco river, while the other states correspond to the region previously classified as the Guyana highlands. Another region with problems for malaria control is along the Colombian border, particularly in the state of Táchira near Cúcuta (Colombia; PAHO, 1994b). In addition to suitable climatic conditions, malaria control in those regions is difficult because of migration across the border and unauthorised mining in the jungle (WHO, 1984; WHO, 1997), notably by Brazilian's *garimperos* (G. Orlandoni, *personal communication*).



Figure 5.4. Malaria in Venezuela. Cases per 1000 (a), and rate of change (b). (wEN refers to El Niño events of weak intensity).

Only in the southern Guyana highlands (i.e., the southern part of Venezuela's Amazon region) was a temporally consistent correlation between ENSO and rainfall variations identified. Meteorological observations were obtained from only one weather station in the southern highlands (i.e., Santa Elena, cf., Figure A4.3). Nevertheless, analysis of the rainfall record of Boa Vista in northern Brazil also reveals a warmer and drier climate during El Niño events and a cooler and wetter

climate in La Niña years. Pulwarty *et al.* (1992) found a similar correlation between ENSO and rainfall anomalies in the northern Guyana highlands, but the correlation is weak and statistically significant during the December-February season only. The correlation of rainfall anomalies with ENSO is not statistically significant at San Cristóbal (i.e., where malaria occurs along the Colombian border; contradicting Pulwarty *et al.*'s (1992) results. The complex orography of the region can explain the difference, because a strong and statistically significant correlation exists for Cúcuta in neighbouring Colombia (cf., Table 3.3 and Figure A4.3).

Although rainfall variations in the northern Guyana highlands of Venezuela are weakly correlated with ENSO, most rivers in southern Venezuela have their source in the southern highlands and flow northward and westward to the Orinoco river. The Orinoco river is the most important river in Venezuela; it more or less forms the border between the Guyana highlands and the Llanos as well as the international border between Colombia and southern Venezuela. It flows north-eastward to discharge its waters into the Atlantic Ocean in the state of Delta Amacuro (cf., Figure A4.3). Therefore, the hydrology of all of southern Venezuela is likely to be impacted by ENSO-related rainfall variation since the catchment area of most rivers is under the influence of ENSO.

Epidemics of malaria in Venezuela were correlated with rainfall anomalies at Santa Elena. During all the El Niño events that preceded the malaria epidemics, rainfall was approximately 0.5 standard deviation below the long-term mean (Figure 5.5). Although rainfall was more abundant during the 1964 and 1988/89 La Niñas, no positive rainfall anomalies were observed during the 1970/71 epidemic. As temperature was also above average during the epidemics, the data indicate that malaria epidemics tend to occur after droughts in Venezuela.

The number of malaria cases reported annually in Colombia has been increasing dramatically since 1959 (Figure 5.6a). A step increase in malaria transmission occurred from 1990 to 1991, because of modernisation of the malaria control programme. Before 1991, the national malaria control programme did not recognise the malaria cases detected by some regional health services, such as Antioquia. Decentralisation of malaria control activities resulted in the inclusion of those data in the national average (WHO, 1993).



Figure 5.5. Time evolution of the SOI and rainfall anomalies at Santa Elena (Venezuela).

Except for the 1965/66 and 1993 episodes, all other El Niño events during the 1959-1998 period were associated with a malaria epidemic (Figure 5.6b). Moreover, an epidemic was reported during the weak 1969 El Niño. All those epidemics were associated with warmer temperatures and lowered river height in northern, western, and central Colombia (cf., Figures 3.5 and 3.13). River height was increasing during the 1993 El Niño, possibly explaining the lack of outbreak during this year. Therefore, we conclude that there is a clear positive correlation between El Niño and malaria transmission in Colombia as Poveda and Rojas (1996; 1997) and Bouma *et al.* (1997) previously suggested using different statistical techniques for shorter time series.

Colombia experiences warmer temperature during El Niño, but rainfall anomalies are not spatially consistent throughout the country. Consequently, it is necessary to identify the region of origin of malaria cases to confirm the relationship between ENSO-related rainfall anomalies and malaria epidemics.



Figure 5.6. Malaria in Colombia. Cases per 1000 (a), and rate of change (b).

In Orinoquia and Amazonia, which form the northern and southern portions respectively of the two Colombian regions east of the Andes, the number of malaria cases as a percentage of the national total was lower during El Niño than for the weak La Niña of 1996 (Table 5.1; Figure A4.5). In contrast, 38.4% of the malaria cases originated from western Colombia (i.e., Occidente region) in 1996 in comparison with more than 62% during the 1997/98 El Niño. Changes were small in central Colombia (Centro Occidente), where malaria incidence is generally very low, as well as in the Caribbean region (Costa Atlantica; cf., Figure A4.5).

Table 5.1. Malaria cases originating from different Colombian regions as a percentage of total cases.

Region	Weak La Niña (1996)	Strong El Niño (1997/98)	
Amazonia	13.2%	5.0%	
Orinoquia	27.4%	12.5%	
Centro Occidente	3.3%	2.0%	
Occidente	38.4%	62.7%	
Costa Atlantica	17.6%	17.8%	

The climate of northern, central, and western Colombia is warmer and drier during El Niño and cooler and wetter during La Niña. In eastern Colombia (i.e., east of the Andes) temperature anomalies are positive during warm events, but rainfall anomalies are not significantly impacted by ENSO (although availability of hydrological data in this region is limited). Likewise, in the eastern Caribbean region, neither rainfall nor river discharge is correlated with ENSO, explaining the lack of El Niño-related changes in malaria transmission in this region. The percentage of malaria cases originating from western Colombia (i.e., Occidente region) considerably increases during El Niño, when drier conditions prevail. As previously noted, the Pacific coast of Colombia is normally one of the rainiest places in the Americas.

The WHO divides Brazil into three regions: the Amazon region, the northeastern states, and the southern states (WHO, 1991; Figure A4.6 depicts the geographical location of the nine states and territories of the Amazon region). In recent decades, malaria has not been a problem in Brazil, except for the Amazon region (A. Passos, *personal communication*), as climatic conditions generally do not favour malaria transmission outside of the Amazon (WHO, 1991). Passos and Fialho (1998) noted that since 1980, more than 95% of malaria cases reported in the country originated from the Amazon basin. Malaria cases that are reported in non-endemic

regions outside the Amazon are usually caused by migrants who return to their place of origin after their journey into the Amazon jungle (PAHO, 1980; A. Passos, *personal communication*; WHO, 1994).

In addition to favourable climatic conditions, the migration of people from non-malarial areas is one of the most important causes of high malaria endemicity in the Amazon region (PAHO, 1980). Brazil's gold rush as well as agricultural settlements at the margins of the forest (which resulted from new development policies aimed at increasing the population density in Brazil's less inhabited regions (PAHO, 1980)) brought many people to the Amazon basin (Liese, 1998; WHO, 1993). Most of these workers lack immunity against malaria (Liese, 1998), rarely use antimalaria drugs (de Andrade, 1995), and live in houses without complete vertical walls on all sides (allowing mosquitoes to enter into the house), making them at high risk to malaria infection (Liese, 1998).

The rapid population increase in the Amazon basin that resulted from rapid economic development explains the large increase in the number of malaria cases that started in the mid-1970s (PAHO, 1980; Figure 5.7a). Development activities include agricultural settlement, hydrological projects, mining, and highway construction (PAHO, 1980). These development projects contribute to high malaria incidence, particularly because of irrigation for agriculture as well as pits from mining activities and road construction, which fill with rainwater, creating breeding grounds for mosquitoes.

Within the Amazon region, the states of Rondônia and Pará account for the majority of the malaria cases reported in Brazil (cf., Figure A4.6). In 1987, for instance, 68% of the malaria cases reported in the country originated from the states of Rondônia and Pará (WHO, 1989). The percentage increases to 79% with the inclusion of the state of Mato Groso (WHO, 1993). A temporally and spatially consistent ENSO-related precipitation signal was identified in northern equatorial Brazil. However, the correlation of rainfall with ENSO in the southern part of the Amazon basin (as demonstrated by Porto Velho in the state of Rondônia) is not temporally consistent (Figure 5.8). Since the states of Rondônia and Mato Groso are located in a

region with poor ENSO-related rainfall anomalies, a strong and statistically significant correlation of malaria epidemics with ENSO is unlikely for Brazil.

The malaria epidemics of 1983, 1986-88, 1994, and 1998 coincided with EL Niño years (Figure 5.7b). With the exception of 1994, These epidemics were associated with less abundant rainfall in northern equatorial Brazil (cf. Figure 3.6). In addition, rainfall was also below average at Porto Velho, in the southern part of the Amazon basin, during those outbreaks (except for 1994) (Figure 5.8). Epidemics have also occurred in 1962/63, 1971, 1979, and 1984 (cf., Figure 5.7b). During the 1962/63 (non-ENSO), 1971 (Niña (+1)), and 1984 (non-ENSO) epidemics, negative rainfall anomalies were recorded at Porto Velho. The 1979 epidemic (a non-ENSO year) was caused by outbreaks in newly settled areas of Rondônia and Pará (WHO, 1981). Therefore, a warmer and drier climate generally engenders malaria epidemics in Brazil, but non-climatic factors also influence the incidence of the disease in the region.

Contingency tables with Fisher's exact test were used to test for the statistical significance of the observed relationships. In northern South America, only in Colombia and Guyana is the relationship between El Niño and malaria epidemics statistically significant at the 95% level (Table 5.2). In Colombia, some malaria epidemics have occurred in Niño (+1) years (i.e., 1973, 1977, and 1995), whereas others took place in Niño (0) years (i.e., 1986, 1991, and 1997) (cf. Figure 5.5). For the strong 1982/83 El Niño, the epidemic started in 1982 and peaked in 1983. Similarly, the 1987, 1995, and 1998 malaria epidemics in Guyana occurred during Niño (+1) years, but outbreaks were also reported in 1986 and 1991, two Niño (0) years. The peak in rainfall anomalies generally occurs by the end of Niño (0) and hence drier conditions are strongest from the end of the calendar year through Niño (+1). Therefore, in Colombia and Guyana the risk of a malaria epidemic is higher during warmer and drier conditions.

The Fisher's exact test also reveals a statistically significant relationship between La Niña and malaria epidemics in Venezuela (cf., Table 5.2). Only La Niña events preceded by El Niño episodes, however, engendered malaria epidemics. Moreover, not all La Niña episodes led to more abundant rainfall, while all warm events (including the 1963 and 1969 weak episodes) that preceded the epidemics led to less abundant rainfall. Therefore, when Venezuela experiences a drought such as during El Niño events, the risk of an epidemic is high in the following year.



Figure 5.7. Malaria in Brazil. Cases per 1000 (a), and rate of change (b).



Figure 5.8. Time evolution of the SOI and rainfall anomalies at Porto Velho (Brazil).

Country	Niño (0)	Niño (+1)	Niño (0) or Niño (+1)	La Niña years ²
Brazil	0.00	0.35	0.57	0.36
Colombia	0.83	0.83	*0.99	0.00
French Guiana	-	0.50	0.00	¹ 0.76
Guyana	0.41	0.73	*0.99	_
Suriname	0.00	0.00	0.35	0.00
Venezuela		0.00	0.36	*0.99

Table 5.2. Results of the Fisher's exact test for malaria in countries of northern South America[†].

Results refer to one minus the p-value

* Statistically significant at the 95% level

(-) Not calculated since no epidemic occurred during this period.

Computations started in 1972, because of the absence of year Niña (0) of the 1970/71 episode.

² Niña (0) or Niña (+1)

In all northern South American countries, including most of Brazil's Amazon, the climate is generally warmer and drier during El Niño and cooler and wetter during La Niña. Warmer temperatures and below average rainfall, and hence lower river height and discharge, were found to spawn malaria epidemics in Colombia and Guyana; while in Venezuela the epidemics lag a drought period by one year. In Brazil's Amazon, the risk of a malaria epidemic is also high under drier conditions, but years with below average rainfall are not always associated with El Niño, particularly in the southern part of the Amazon region. The tropical Atlantic Ocean might also influence the climate of the region, as it is known to modulate the impact of El Niño in South America (Mason *et al.*, 1999). Physical explanations for the relationships observed in this chapter are suggested in the discussion. The following section analyses the correlation between malaria outbreaks and ENSO in western South America, where in the coastal zone of this region the climate is both warmer and wetter during El Niño.

5.2 Temporal Correlations in Western South America

Risk of malaria transmission exists in most of Ecuador's coastal region, where the relationship between El Niño and rainfall anomalies is consistent. In 1990, for example, 91.5% of the total malaria cases reported in the country originated from the coastal provinces of Esmeraldas, Manabí, Guayas, and Los Ríos (PAHO, 1991). Esmeraldas is the main centre of malaria transmission (WHO, 1984), as it accounted for 40% and 47% of the total cases reported nationally in 1983 and 1996, respectively (WHO, 1985; 1996 percentage was calculated using regional data collected at PAHO headquarters). Similarly, approximately 90% of the total malaria cases reported in 1984 originated from the same provinces as well as Napo. The latter province is situated east of the Andes, where no relationship of rainfall variations with ENSO was identified (cf., Figure A4.2; WHO, 1986). More recently, the risk of malaria transmission has increased in the province of Sucumbíos (which is also located east of the Andes), because of oil exploration in the region (WHO, 1993).

Rainfall is generally abundant in most of the provinces where malaria transmission commonly occurs, particularly in the province of Esmeraldas (Johnson, 1976). As previously mentioned, only the northern and eastern parts of the provinces of Manabí (i.e., north of Manta) and Guayas, respectively, normally experience a wet climate (cf., Figure A4.2). In the southwestern part of the country (i.e., the region previously referred to as the Peninsula), semi-arid conditions usually prevail, because

of the cold SSTs in the Pacific Ocean in normal years (cf., Figure A4.2; Johnson, 1976). The city of Guayaquil forms the climatic boundary between the semi-arid region to the west and the swampy areas to the north and east (Johnson, 1976). Thus, the majority of the malaria cases reported in the provinces of Manabí and Guayas in non-El Niño years are likely to originate from the wet sections of those provinces, as dryness might restrict mosquito habitats in the Peninsula.

The warming of SSTs in the Pacific Ocean enhances evaporation and humidity, producing abundant rainfall in the coastal region (cf., Figure 3.9). Cedeño (1986) associated the 1983 malaria epidemic to the flooding caused by the 1982/83 El Niño in the Guayas river basin. The Guayas river flows through the city of Guayaquil and discharges its water in the Gulf of Guayaquil (cf., Figure A4.2). Because of its low elevation and slow discharge, the torrential rains produced by the 1982/83 El Niño resulted in overflowing of the river, increasing the number of mosquito breeding sites. Moreover, the increase in malaria transmission was not only observed in the flooded region, but also in other provinces, as a result of the migration of the inundated population (Cedeño, 1986). Furthermore, abundant rainfall increased malaria transmission in the Peninsula (Cedeño, 1986). Total annual precipitation increases, on average, by 177% in this region in El Niño years (Rossel *et al.*, 1999). The 1983 epidemic persisted in 1984, probably because of continued disorder in the country following one of the strongest El Niño events of the century (Figure 5.9).

Likewise, the 1997/98 El Niño generated extreme precipitation in coastal Ecuador, spawning a large malaria epidemic (cf., Figures 3.9 and 5.9). Abundant rainfall during the 1987 El Niño also engendered an epidemic. Its magnitude, however, was not as large as the 1983 and 1998 epidemics, possibly because of the smaller rainfall anomalies during this year (cf., Figure 3.9). Above average rainfall probably increased the number of mosquito habitats in the Peninsula, because the arid climate restricts their abundance in normal years. Nevertheless, rainfall anomalies were unlikely to be severe enough to cause large population migrations and, hence, a sizeable malaria epidemic.



Figure 5.9. Malaria in Ecuador.

The 1965/66, 1972/73, 1976/77, 1991/92, 1993, and 1994/95 El Niños did not spawn malaria epidemnics. Malaria transmission rose in 1976, but the peak is below the outbreak threshold value. As previously mentioned, rainfall anomalies were not spatially consistent in coastal Ecuador during the 1965/66 El Niño, and normal rainfall conditions prevailed in most of the coastal zone during the 1993 and 1994/95 El Niños (cf., Figure 3.9), explaining the lack of epidemics there. Therefore, 1972/73 and 1991/92 are the only two El Niño episodes that generated abundant rainfall that did not result in malaria epidemics.

Ecuador experienced a prolonged malaria epidemic from 1967 through 1969 as a result of a drastic reduction of control measures using DDT in 1966 and 1967 (cf., Figure 5.9; Cedeño, 1986). Accordingly, the number of house insecticide sprayings per 1000 inhabitants was extremely low in 1967 (Figure 5.10). The 1990 epidemic, which also occurred during a non-ENSO year, has been attributed to increased population migration in some coastal provinces because of agricultural colonisation and mining activities in those regions (WHO, 1992b).



Figure 5.10. House insecticide sprayings in Ecuador.

The relationship between El Niño and malaria epidemics is more temporally consistent in Peru than in Ecuador. In 1941, the Peruvian government created a national service to combat malaria and five years later, DDT was used to eradicate malarial mosquitoes (P. Valencia, *personal communication*). Accordingly, the national incidence of malaria began to decrease drastically in 1946 and remained low for the next two decades (Figure 5.11a). Following a decade of reduced insecticide sprayings, malaria began to resurface in 1972 when the number of malaria cases more than doubled in comparison with 1971. The present analysis is limited to the 1972-1999 period, because malaria eradication was successful in prior decades, hiding any signal that ENSO might have had.

El Niño engendered warmer temperatures and abundant rainfall, and consequently elevated river discharge, during the 1973, 1977, 1983, 1987, 1992-1994, and 1998 hydrological years in northern Peru (cf. Figure 3.8). Accordingly, malaria epidemics were reported during most of those years with the exception of 1973, 1983 and 1987 (Figure 5.11b). A continuous epidemic state was reported from 1992 through 1995, corresponding to a prolonged period (1991-1995) of elevated SSTs (cf.,

Figure 2.2). Though the WHO reported that widespread flooding in northern Peru was the cause for elevated malaria transmission in 1983 (WHO, 1985), the number of malaria cases during this year was below the outbreak threshold value. Nevertheless, the incidence of malaria increased by 40% in 1983 in comparison with 1982. The high variability of malaria in the 1990s reduces the significance of the epidemics that occurred in the 1980s.

There is evidence of increased malaria transmission in northern Peru during El Niño events. For instance, a 225% and 7360% increase in malaria cases were reported in the departments of Piura and Tumbes, respectively, between 1982 and 1983 (Russac, 1986). Less than 7% of the malaria cases reported nationally in 1996 originated from the northern coastal departments of Tumbes, Lambayeque, and Piura, in comparison with 48% during the 1998 Niño (+1) year (calculations were performed using regional data from Peru's *Oficina General de Epidemiología*; cf., Figure A4.4). Therefore, in addition to warm and humid weather, widespread flooding engendered by El Niño in northern Peru is likely to be the reason for malaria epidemics in Niño (+1) years in this country.

No statistically significant correlation (at the 95% confidence level) was found between El Niño and malaria epidemics in Ecuador (Table 5.3). Even by limiting the analysis to the 1972-98 period, in order to remove the epidemic of the late 1960s, which resulted from a drastic reduction of vector control measures, the relationship is still below the significance level (i.e., 0.86). The absence of negative rainfall anomalies during a few El Niño events is likely to explain the lack of statistical significance, because 60% of the El Niño events that engendered positive rainfall anomalies during Niño (+1) spawned malaria epidemics in Ecuador.

A statistically significant correlation exists between malaria epidemics and Niño (+1) years in Peru (cf., Table 5.3). As previously mentioned, the aridity of the climate during non-El Niño years restricts mosquito breeding sites and, hence, malaria transmission in the coastal departments of northern Peru. The retreat of water from flooded lands during El Niño events in this region causes an increase in mosquito breeding grounds, spawning malaria epidemics.



Figure 5.11. Malaria in Peru. Cases per 1000 persons (a), and rate of change (b). Because of the eradication period and the following low incidence of the disease, the rate of change was illustrated as of 1972 only.

Country	Niño (0)	Niño (+1)	Niño (0) or Niño (+1)	La Niña years
Ecuador		0.65	0.34	
Peru	0.0	*0.99	*0.99	

Table 5.3. Results of the Fisher's exact test for malaria in countries of western South America^{\dagger}.

[†]Results refer to one minus the p-value

* Statistically significant at the 95% level

(-) Not calculated since no epidemic occurred during an El Niño event.

5.3 Temporal Correlations in Southeast Asia

The use of chloroquine and DDT during the worldwide malaria eradication campaign between 1955 and 1969 resulted in less than 0.18 malaria cases per 1000 persons reported annually in Indonesia during the 1960s (Trigg and Kondrachine, 1998). Since 1970, more than 100,000 cases have been reported annually (Figure 5.12a). The 1960s will therefore be omitted from the present analysis, because of low malaria incidence during this decade. Although the temporal consistency of ENSO-related rainfall variations is strong in most of Indonesia, only the 1972/73 and 1982/83 El Niños were associated with malaria epidemics (Figure 5.12b). No outbreaks were reported during other warm events.

Epidemiological data for the Philippines were obtained from both the WHO and the national Department of Health. Although the Department of Health provides the malaria data to the WHO, it is interesting to note the large difference in the number of reported cases between the two sources (Figure 5.13a). (The same problem was noticed for DHF.) The data from the government of the Philippines are selected for further analysis, because it manages the malaria control programme and is therefore the primary reporter of the malaria cases in the country.

The malaria control activities were resumed in the Philippines in 1946 following the Second World War and they continued until 1958, when the malaria control programme was changed to a malaria eradication programme, which ended in 1970 (Cabrera and Arambulo, 1977). Both the malaria control and eradication programmes were successful, as the incidence of malaria decreased from 10 cases per 1000 persons in 1946 to less than one case per 1000 persons in the 1970s. Malaria cases are reported from 72 of the 75 provinces of the country (Salazar *et al.*, 1988).



Figure 5.12. Malaria in Indonesia. Cases per 1000 (a), and rate of change (b). Because of the low incidence of malaria prior to 1971, the 1960s were excluded from the calculation of the rate of change.



Figure 5.13. Malaria in the Philippines. Cases per 1000 persons (a), and rate of change (b). The rate of change was calculated since the end of the malaria eradication programme.

The analysis of the correlation between ENSO and malaria transmission extends from 1971, one year after the end of the malaria eradication programme, to 1998. Some El Niño events (which engendered below average rainfall from September (0) through May (+1) (cf., Figure 3.12)) were associated with malaria epidemics (i.e., 1976/77, 1982/83, and 1991/92) (Figure 5.13b). But, the relationship

is not temporally consistent, as many other warm episodes, which engendered rainfall anomalies, were not associated with malaria epidemics, particularly the very strong 1997/98 El Niño (cf., Figures 5.13b). On the other hand, no La Niña episodes were associated with a malaria epidemic.

Unlike in the Philippines, the ENSO-malaria epidemic relationship in the Sarawak is more clear-cut. Annual malaria cases are available for Sarawak since 1961, the year of initiation of the malaria eradication programme in eastern Malaysia (Rahman, 1982). There are slight differences between the data from the WHO and those from the Sarawak Health Department, especially from 1963 to 1973, but the disagreement is not as large as in the Philippines (Figure 5.14a). The data from the Sarawak Health Department were selected for further analysis for the same reason as in the Philippines.

A step decrease in the mean value of the annual number of malaria cases is clearly evident before 1974 and after 1980 in Sarawak, probably because of successful malaria control efforts (cf., Figure 5.14a). Thus, the 1975 through 1979 period is omitted from the statistical analysis and we used two time periods and thus two standard deviations for the calculation of the outbreak threshold value, i.e., from 1962 through 1974 and 1980 through 1998 (Figure 5.14b).

The 1965, 1972, 1982, 1991, 1994, and 1997 Niño (0) years, which were all associated with warmer temperatures and below average rainfall (cf., Figure 3.11), engendered malaria epidemics (cf., Figure 5.14b). The El Niño-precipitation signal was not consistent, however, during the 1994 El Niño. Below average rainfall was recorded at Bintulu and Miri in 1994, but not at Kuching (cf., Figure A4.1). Most epidemics occurred during Niño (0), although the 1973 outbreak occurred during Niño (+1). An epidemic was also reported in 1990 and, accordingly, rainfall was below normal during that year (cf., Figure 3.11). Nevertheless, Sarawak experienced epidemics in 1968, 1970, and 1996 when normal or more abundant rainfall prevailed.


Figure 5.14. Malaria in Sarawak. Cases per 1000 (a), and rate of change (b).

The only El Niño that was associated with warmer and drier conditions and that did not generate a malaria epidemic in Sarawak is the 1986/87 episode. Also, the 1978 peak in malaria cases was not associated with ENSO. Resistance of *falciparum* malaria to chloroquine and a high number of imported cases that led to secondary

infections among the native Punans are two explanations for this peak in malaria transmission (WHO, 1980).

In Thailand, there is also a major contrast between the two sources of data prior to 1972 (Figure 5.15a). As in the Philippines and Sarawak, data from the national department of public health were selected for further analysis. The incidence of malaria constantly increased from 1972 through 1982 in this country. After a period of more or less stable incidence, malaria transmission further decreased from 1989 until the 1997/98 El Niño.

Malaria epidemics occurred during 1973 and 1986, two Niño (+1) years (Figure 5.14b). However, the 1973 outbreak could also have been caused by the 1973/74 La Niña, as the rate of change further increased and peaked in 1974. Furthermore, the 1970/71 and 1988/89 La Niñas were also associated with a malaria outbreak. The increase in malaria cases from 1986 through 1988 was partly caused by higher malaria transmission in southern Thailand, because of increased population movement across the border (WHO, 1990). Some epidemics also occurred during non-ENSO years, notably 1980 and 1981.

Only in Sarawak is the relationship between El Niño and malaria epidemics statistically significant (at the 95% confidence level) in Southeast Asia (Table 5.4). Moreover, malaria epidemics in this state are more likely to occur in year Niño (0), i.e., when warmer and drier conditions prevail. The 1972/73 El Niño is the only exception to this pattern, as the epidemic was reported during Niño (+1).

The relationship between La Niña and malaria outbreaks is statistically significant in Thailand (cf., Table 5.4). Regional and monthly epidemiological data would be necessary to draw conclusions for this country, since the relationship between ENSO and rainfall variations in Thailand is not spatially consistent and also varies seasonally. Unfortunately, these data are not collected at this time (P. Ngamtao, *personal communication*).



Figure 5.15. Malaria in Thailand. Cases per 1000 (a), and rate of change (b). Because the data from the national department of public health were selected for further analysis, the time series of the rate of change begins in 1966.

Country	Niño (0)	Niño (+1)	Niño (0) or Niño (+1)	La Niña years
Indonesia	0.38	0.42	0.47	¹ 0.46
Philippines	0.00	0.39	0.67	
Sarawak	*0.91	0.32	**0.97	0.38
Thailand	-	² 0.00	² 0.34	**0.99

Table 5.4. Results of the Fisher's exact test for malaria in countries of Southeast Asia[†].

 Inaliand
 - 0.00
 0.34

 * Results refer to one minus the p-value

 * Statistically significant at the 90% level

 ** Statistically significant at the 95% level

 (--) Not calculated since no epidemic occurred during an El Niño event.

 ¹ Computations started in 1972, because of the absence of year Niña (0) of the 1970/71 episode.

 ² Computations started in 1967, because of the absence of year Niño (0) of the 1965/66 episode.

Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusion

In addition to summarise the results of this thesis, the first and second sections of this chapter include some suggestions that explain the relationships identified between ENSO and dengue/DHF epidemics and ENSO and malaria epidemics, respectively. Also included are explanations for the lack of a relationship between ENSO and disease epidemics in a few countries. Finally, we mention the practical use of those correlations for a better control of dengue/DHF and malaria in the tropics.

6.1 Dengue/DHF

This thesis reveals a statistically significant relationship between El Niño and epidemics of dengue and DHF in Colombia, French Guiana, Indonesia, and Suriname. Moreover, epidemics tend to occur in Niño (+1) in Colombia and Indonesia, and in Niño (0) in French Guiana and Suriname. It was demonstrated that during El Niño episodes, French Guiana, Suriname, and Colombia normally experience below average rainfall from May (0) through April (+1), and warmer temperatures. Further, hydrological analysis showed that the height of most Colombian rivers was decreasing during El Niño episodes, with the lowest river height generally reported by the end of Niño (0). Though river height slowly returns to normal conditions during Niño (+1), it was still considerably below average during most epidemics (e.g. 1983, 1987, and 1992) (cf., Table 3.5). Therefore, it is concluded that dengue epidemics in northern South America are more likely to occur during droughts.

In Indonesia, warmer temperatures prevail in most of the country from September (0) through May (+1). In contrast, the negative rainfall anomalies engendered by El Niño generally appear as early as January (0) and persist for at least one year. Nevertheless, they are strongest and statistically significant from June (0) through November (0), when most of Indonesia experiences its dry season. These patterns are particularly evident on the island of Java, where the majority of DHF cases originate. Monthly epidemiological data and estimates of rainfall for the 1994 through 1998 period were analysed to determine the climatic variations associated with DHF epidemics in Indonesia. Using the CMAP grid-based data set, total monthly precipitation was estimated by averaging all grid cells over the island of Java. These rainfall estimates were then compared with the monthly incidence of DHF.

Results show that the 1995 and 1998 epidemics occurred following the onset of rainfall and not during the drought (Figure 6.1). Nevertheless, the magnitude of the epidemics does not appear to be related to rainfall amplitude. A minimal quantity of rain fell for approximately five months during the two Niño (0) years that preceded the epidemics, suggesting that prolonged droughts seem to spawn DHF epidemics (cf., Figure 6.1). Therefore, the likelihood of a DHF epidemic increases during Niño (+1) years in Indonesia, following a prolonged drought. Table 6.1 lists the countries with a statistically significant correlation between ENSO and dengue/DHF epidemics, together with the ENSO year with high epidemic risk and the climatic anomalies associated with the spawning of those epidemics.



Figure 6.1. The relationship between monthly DHF cases and total monthly precipitation on the island of Java (Indonesia).

Country or territory*	Year with epidemic risk	Climatic conditions
Colombia	Niño (+1)	Dry and warm
French Guiana	Niño (0)	Dry and warm
Indonesia	Niño (+1)	Dry and warm
Suriname	Niño (0)	Dry and warm

Table 6.1. ENSO year with high dengue/DHF epidemic risk and the climatic anomalies associated with the spawning of those epidemics.

*Only countries with a statistically significant correlation between ENSO and dengue/DHF epidemics are included.

Warmer temperatures are likely to increase the incidence of dengue and DHF by lengthening the life span of mosquitoes and by increasing the replication rate of dengue viruses. The magnitude of the temperature anomalies during El Niño, however, is significant, but seems too small to spawn dengue epidemics in northern South America without the contribution of rainfall variations.

In some regions, such as in so-uthwestern Puerto Rico, the incidence of dengue is related to rainfall variations, because it is associated with the availability of mosquito breeding sites. In other regions, however, such a relationship is not clearcut. The vector of dengue and DHF in South America and Southeast Asia, respectively, is *Ae. aegypti*. As previously mentioned, it is a domestic species that breeds in artificial water containers such water storage containers, plant pots and discarded car tires (Frost, 1991). Thus, in some regions, non-climatic factors such as the collection of rainwater due to the non-accessibility of piped water and poor garbage disposal also influence the availability of mosquito breeding sites, and hence the incidence of dengue and DHF (PAHO, 1994b).

During prolonged droughts, such as in El Niño years, water supply is a problem in Colombia and storage of water increases, increasing the number of breeding sites for *Ae. aegypti* (Poveda *et al.*, 1999). Likewise, Ungchusak and Kunasol (1988) associated the large 1987 DHF epidemic in Thailand to the dry conditions that existed during the summer season, because the drought forced people to store water. The incidence of DHF is generally highest in the driest areas of Northeast Thailand and DHF outbreaks in this region generally precede the rainy

season (Eamchan *et al.*, 1989). A similar explanation is possible in French Guiana and Suriname.

In addition to less abundant rainfall, warmer temperatures also contribute to drought conditions, as they increase potential evapotranspiration. Potential evapotranspiration is the quantity of moisture that would evaporate and transpire if it were available (Christopherson, 1994). The combination of both warmer temperature and less abundant rainfall is therefore suggested for the spawning of dengue and DHF epidemics in Colombia, French Guiana, and Suriname.

As opposed to dengue epidemics in South America, DHF epidemics in Indonesia tend to occur following a drought and not during the drought. Two suggestions are provided to explain this correlation. First, the intensity of the drought (particularly on the island of Java), might result in empty water containers in most houses after a few weeks, especially if piped water has been interrupted. Thus, to take the maximum benefit of the infrequent rainwater, people might place numerous buckets and others receptacles outside the house. If those receptacles are not removed after the beginning of the rainy season (and they are likely not to be if piped water is irregular) they would provide ideal breeding grounds for mosquitoes.

Second, the drought may reduce the population of mosquitoes and their predators. Since the increase in the population of mosquitoes is substantially faster than that of their predators, the mosquito population is high for a certain time period at the beginning of the rainy season (Bouma and Dye, 1997). Analogously, the 1993 outbreak of hantavirus in the Southwest of the United States occurred following intense rains generated by the 1992/93 El Niño, but it was also preceded by a prolonged drought. The drought reduced the population of predators such as owls, coyotes, and snakes that prey on rodents that transmit the disease. The intense rains associated with El Niño increased the population of insects on which rodents feed. Since the increase in the population of rodents lagged behind that of mosquitoes, mosquito density was high for a certain time period, spawning a hantavirus outbreak (Stern and Easterling, 1999).

Dengue fever has been endemic in the rural areas of Southeast Asia for many years. In those regions, notably in Sarawak, the vector of dengue is *Ae. albopictus* (Aiken and Leigh, 1978; Chang *et al.*, 1981). *Ae. albopictus* breeds mainly outdoors in broken bottles and domestic containers, as well as in natural habitats such as in the axils of the leaves of banana and pineapple trees (Chang and Jute, 1986). Thus, the population of *Ae. albopictus* is likely to be affected by rainfall patterns. In the Philippines, for example, Schultz (1993) found that the incidence of dengue increases 2 months following the onset of the rainy season. Foo *et al.* (1985) identified a similar relationship in Peninsular Malaysia. Only in Sarawak was the correlation between ENSO and dengue analysed in Southeast Asia. No statistically significant relationship was found, however. Different results might have been obtained had it been possible to do the analysis in rural areas only. Such an analysis was not possible, because of aggregation of the data at the state scale.

An increasing trend-line is present in the dengue and DHF time series of most South American and Southeast Asian countries. Population growth is not an explanation, however, as the disease cases were normalised by the population. Rapid urbanisation may explain part of the increase, because water supply and other basic public services such as sewage and waste management do not keep pace with rapid urban growth in many developing countries, increasing the availability of mosquito breeding sites (Carrada-Bravo, 1987; Gómez-Dantés, 1991; Gubler and Clark, 1995). Moreover, rapid urbanisation is also associated with squatter settlement, such as in Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia). Mosquito breeding abounds in squatter settlements, because the unavailability of piped water makes the storage of water a necessity (Aiken and Leigh 1975).

Furthermore, Gubler and Clark (1995) mentioned the deterioration of the public health services in Latin America and increased air travel, which allows for the introduction of new dengue viruses, as other explanations. In addition, the improvement of the reporting system was suggested by Eamchan *et al.* (1989) to explain the rising trend of DHF in Thailand, which might also be a factor in other

countries. Finally the expansion of the geographical range of dengue and DHF might be one of the most important factors.

In Thailand, for instance, DHF was first identified as an urban disease, but it is now spreading to rural areas (Eamchan *et al.*, 1989). Also, the number of regencies (i.e., municipalities) reporting DHF cases has been increasing in Indonesia since the identification of the first case of DHF in 1968 (Figure 6.2). The increase continued in 1997 and 1998 though the exact number of regencies affected was not provided (R. Kusriastuti, *personal communication*).



Figure 6.2. Number of regencies reporting DHF cases in Indonesia. (Data were provided by the WHO-regional Office for Southeast Asia.)

Patz et al. (1998) found that the potential of dengue epidemics would increase world-wide with a temperature rise of only 1°C or so, as predicted for the year 2050 by many General Circulation Models (GCMs). Their epidemiological model, however, did not consider precipitation changes that might occur under climate change and the cultural factors affecting the availability of *Ae. aegypti* breeding sites. The increasing temperature trend present at most weather stations could therefore explain part of the increase in dengue and DHF transmission or even provide an explanation for their geographical spread. It was suggested that more frequent and intense El Niños and global warming might have caused this temperature trend.

6.2 Malaria

A statistically significant correlation between malaria outbreaks and El Niño was demonstrated in Peru, Colombia, Guyana, and Sarawak. In Peru, warm and humid air condenses as it rises on the eastern slopes of the Andes, generating abundant rainfall on the Amazonian slope. On the lee side, air subsidence as well as cold SSTs produce dryness in coastal Peru (Martyn, 1992). During El Niño the warming of SSTs off the coast of northern Peru engenders torrential rain, particularly in the departments of Piura, Tumbes, and Lambayeque (A. Martinez, *personal communication*; cf., Figure A4.4). Hence, malaria transmission is low in non-El Niño years in northern Peru, because the dry climate restricts mosquito habitats. Because of the low incidence of malaria in the region, the population lacks protective immunity and when environmental conditions favour the spread of malaria, such as during El Niño episodes, epidemics occur following the retreat of water from flooded lands (Bouma and van der Kaay, 1994).

Colombia, Guyana and Sarawak also experience malaria epidemics during El Niño episodes. Although epidemics generally occur during Niño (0) years in Sarawak, there is no consistency in whether epidemics occur in Niño (0) or Niño (+1) in Colombia and Guyana. In Sarawak, dryness is limited to Niño (0), whereas in Colombia and Guyana, it extends over both Niño (0) and Niño (+1), because of the tendency of negative hydrological anomalies to peak by the end of Niño (0). Thus, in the three countries malaria epidemics occurred during periods with warmer temperatures, less abundant rainfall, and low river height and river discharge. Moreover, the largest increase in malaria transmission in Colombia during the 1997/98 El Niño was observed in the Pacific region, where total annual precipitation is extreme in normal and La Niña years.

There is evidence of seasonal variation in malaria transmission in Brazil's Amazon. Camargo *et al.* (1996) found that in Candeias do Jamary, a village in

Rondônia, malaria transmission occurs year-round with a higher incidence in the dry season. However, in addition to El Niño, other climatic phenomena generate droughts in southern Amazon, and dryness has also occurred in normal and La Niña years. These dry, non-El Niño years also spawned malaria epidemics.

It is unlikely that the small temperature anomalies during El Niño episodes can spawn malaria epidemics without an increase in the population of mosquitoes (refer to Section 1.2 for examples of temperature variations on malaria transmission). It is therefore suggested that numerous mosquito habitats become available under dry conditions. A large percentage of mosquito habitats are probably washed away in normal and La Niña years, because of heavy rainfall and high water level. Lowered river height and slower river discharge in El Niño years might create new breeding grounds, as many Anopheles species breed in ponds of stagnant water alongside rivers, as previously observed in Sri Lanka by Bouma et al. (1994). Figure 6.3 illustrates examples of breeding sites that become available under dry hydrological conditions. Moreover, malarial mosquitoes can also breed in open water tanks that are used to store water as observed in Guayaquil (Ecuador; Cedeño, 1986). Also, Colombia, Guyana, and Sarawak enjoy equatorial wet climates, and in drier El Niño years, the relative humidity is still likely to be favourable to mosquito survival. Therefore, a warmer and drier climate, i.e., drought conditions, associated with El Niño generally increases the risk of malaria epidemics in Colombia, Guyana, and Sarawak.

In Venezuela, the risk of a malaria epidemic generally increases in the year following a drought. Bouma and Dye (1997) previously explained this relationship by an increase in mosquito population, as the increase in the population of mosquitoes is substantially faster than their predators' following a drought. We previously suggested a similar explanation for DHF epidemics in Indonesia.

In contrast to Guyana, no relationship was found between El Niño and malaria epidemics in neighbouring Suriname. In the coastal region of Suriname, malaria transmission is limited to the submerged and forested areas during the rainy season, because the tidal action of the sea washes out mosquito breeding sites alongside rivers (Rozendaal, 1991). Nevertheless, at the national scale, peaks in biting densities are correlated with high water level in the long rainy season, low water level in the long dry season and abundant rainfall in the short rainy season. Similarly, data collected by the Anti-Malaria Campaign show that peaks in malaria transmission are common during the long dry season, and smaller peaks are also observed during the long rainy season (Rozendaal, 1992). As a result of the availability of mosquito breeding sites under a variety of hydrological conditions, malaria epidemics cannot be predicted from ENSO-generated rainfall patterns in Suriname.



Figure 6.3. Example of mosquito habitats (as represented by numbers 1 and 2) appearing in dry periods. Level "a" refers to the river height in normal years, and level "b" to that of El Niño years. (Figure modified from Rozendaal, 1992, p.19).

French Guiana is divided into three epidemiological regions: the coast; the Amazon, located in the southernmost portion of the territory; and the transition zone in-between. In the coastal region, outbreaks occur when new hosts of the malaria parasites move into a region with high mosquito density. In the Amazon, malaria is endemic and cases are more or less constantly reported throughout the year, mostly from children since the majority of adults have acquired immunity. In the transition zone between the coast and the Amazon, malaria transmission is periodical and, hence, immunity is not acquired by the population (Cochet *et al.*, 1996). In this region, the incidence of malaria generally peaks during the driest months of the year, when the

mosquito population is highest. In other months, excessive rainfall washes away mosquito breeding sites (Esterre *et al.*, 1990; Juminer *et al.*, 1981).

No relationship was identified between the drier conditions engendered by El Niño and malaria epidemics in French Guiana. With the exception of a drastic increase in malaria transmission in the late 1980s, which was associated with the nonclimatic factors described in the previous chapter, malaria is considerably well controlled in French Guiana (Cochet *et al.*, 1996). For instance, malaria transmission has been gradually decreasing since 1990, as opposed to a drastic increase in most other Latin American countries. Since French Guiana is officially part of France (like Guadeloupe and Martinique, it is known as a French *department d'Outre-mer*), it benefits from the financial and technical help from the latter country, possibly explaining the relatively good control of malaria in the region.

Cabrera and Arambulo (1977) found that in regions with a distinct dry and wet season in the Philippines, the incidence of malaria is seasonal, because the density of mosquitoes varies with rainfall. Malaria transmission is usually interrupted during the dry season because small streams dry up. Conversely, mosquito breeding sites are often washed away by torrential rains during the rainy season. Consequently, the incidence of malaria is generally highest at the beginning and towards the end of the dry season, when rainfall increases again. No relationship with ENSO-generated rainfall anomalies was found, however. This lack of relationship might be the result of successful control measures, as the incidence of malaria has been fairly low and constant since the end of the malaria eradication programme in 1970. Table 6.2 lists the countries with a statistically significant correlation between ENSO and malaria epidemics, together with the ENSO year with high epidemic risk and the climatic anomalies associated with the spawning of those epidemics.

In all the Latin American countries analysed in this study a gradual increase in malaria transmission is observed. For some countries, explanations have previously been suggested. Interestingly, none of the Southeast Asian countries show this increasing trend in malaria transmission, suggesting that global warming might not be an explanation for higher malaria incidence in recent decades in South America, since increasing temperatures are also observed in Southeast Asia.

Table 6.2. ENSO year with high malaria epidemic risk and the climatic anomalies associated with the spawning of those epidemics.

Country or state ^{*1}	Year with epidemic risk	Climatic anomalies	
Colombia	Niño (0) and Niño (+1)	Dry and warm	
Guyana	Niño (0) and Niño $(+1)$	Dry and warm	
Peru	Niño (+1)	Wet and warm	
Sarawak	Niño (0)	Dry and warm	
Venezuela	Niña $(0)^2$	Dry and warm	

*Only countries with a statistically significant correlation between ENSO and malaria epidemics are included.

¹Thailand is excluded because of the lack of data to explain the relationship.

²Epidemics generally occur following an El Niño-induced drought and seem unrelated to La Niñarelated rainfall anomalies.

In Latin America, we noted that there has been a gradual decrease in the annual number of houses sprayed with insecticides (e.g. Suriname, cf., Figure 4.4). This reduction in the use of insecticides has previously been suggested for the rising trend in malaria transmission in recent decades in Colombia (Bouma *et al.*, 1997). Ecuador is the only country in South America that still uses DDT to eradicate malaria mosquitoes and with the exception of French Guiana, it is also the only country that reported a decline in malaria transmission in the 1990s (Roberts *et al.*, 1997). Although insecticide data were not available from French Guiana in recent years, the number of house insecticide sprayings was 68,000 in 1989, more than any other year in prior decades. Insecticide data have yet to be collected for Southeast Asian countries to see if the lack of a rising trend in malaria transmission is explained by a more or less constant use of insecticides during the study period.

Other explanations have been suggested to explain the increasing trend in malaria incidence in Latin America, including resistance to insecticides and antimalaria drugs, and new development policies in regions where malaria transmission is a problem such as the Amazon basin. Development activities such as agricultural expansion, road building, and irrigation often lead to higher malaria incidence because of the migratory movements they cause as well as the numerous mosquito breeding sites they create (Liese, 1998).

6.3 Conclusion

In a report recently published, the PAHO (1998c) noted that flooding is likely to have an impact, though small, on the incidence of dengue and malaria in Latin In addition, they mentioned that drought does not have any impact on America. malaria and its impact on dengue is unknown. Furthermore, no mention of the effect of temperature variations was noted for dengue, though the report includes the possibility of temperature variations on malaria incidence. This thesis has demonstrated that flooding engenders malaria epidemics in the dry region of northern Peru. Contrary to PAHO's report, this thesis found that droughts were associated with malaria epidemics in Guyana, Colombia, Sarawak, and Venezuela. Moreover. droughts are also associated with dengue/DHF epidemics in Colombia, French Guiana, Suriname, and Indonesia. Figures 6.4 and 6.5 summarise the results of this thesis for dengue (including DHF) and malaria, respectively. These new results will aid in updating the PAHO report.

This information, when coupled with El Niño and climate forecasts can be useful in identifying high risk years for the spawning of dengue/DHF and malaria epidemics. The International Research Institute for Climate Prediction (IRI) provides seasonal (i.e., 3 months) climate forecasts for different regions around the world. Climate forecasts are created according to two main procedures. First, SSTs in the tropical Pacific Ocean are predicted using coupled ocean-atmosphere models such as the coupled model from the climate modelling branch of the NOAA NCEP. Second, dynamic models of the atmosphere and statistical analyses of historical data relating climatic variability to SST in the tropical Pacific Ocean provide probabilities of above average, normal, or below average temperature and precipitation over specific regions.



Figure 6.1. Countries with a statistically significant correlation between El Niño and dengue/DHF epidemics. Dark grey shading indicates warmer climatic conditions and light grey shading indicates drier conditions during El Niño. (Temperature anomalies are only plotted for the landmasses.)



Figure 6.2. Countries with a statistically significant correlation between El Niño and malaria epidemics (black), and La Niña and malaria epidemics (dotted). Dark grey shading indicates warmer climatic conditions and light grey shading indicates drier conditions during El Niño. El Niño usually generates abundant rainfall in western South America (striped area) (Temperature anomalies are only plotted for the landmasses.) This research shows that in certain regions, public health officials could potentially take advantage of El Niño and the associated climate forecasts to take measures that could prevent epidemics of malaria, dengue, DHF, and possibly other mosquito-transmitted diseases. These models are presently reliable for large geographical areas. As considerably good relationships between ENSO and epidemics of dengue, DHF, and malaria were identified at the national scale in this thesis, the current spatial scale of climate forecasts seems presently adequate for helping in the control of vector-borne diseases.

Therefore, the public health sector is a potential user of El Niño-related climate forecasts, as they could facilitate early interventions when climatic anomalies favour the spawning of epidemics. Examples of early interventions to avoid dengue/DHF epidemics are media campaigns concerning the breeding sites of Ae. aegypti, which might lead people to cover their household water containers; neighbourhood clean-ups (i.e., removing tires and other garbage that create adequate breeding grounds for mosquitoes); as well as insecticide sprayings. In the case of malaria, the distribution of anti-malarial drugs should be facilitated in times when epidemics are forecast, including distribution programmes to those who need but cannot afford the drugs. Coupled with remote sensing techniques, El Niño forecasts could be used to spread larvicides in areas that are likely to become potential breeding sites for Anopheles mosquitoes. Remote sensing techniques can be used to localise areas where pools of stagnant water generally form during climatic anomalies (Stern and Easterling, 1999). However, in regions where the relationship between ENSO and climate variability is weak, such as in Brazil's Amazon, the use of El Niño forecast for better control of mosquito-transmitted diseases is limited.

Research needs to be pursued in Thailand, because of the unexplained relationship between La Niña and malaria epidemics identified in this thesis. Hydrological analyses coupled with monthly and regional epidemiological data are necessary, because the impacts of ENSO on rainfall anomalies vary seasonally and are not spatially consistent throughout the country. Also, field research needs to be done in French Guiana and Suriname in order to provide evidence of the hypothesised storage of water during droughts in both countries. Finally, ecological analyses providing evidence of higher density of *Anopheles* and *Aedes* mosquitoes in the year following a drought in Venezuela and Indonesia have yet to be performed.

Bibliography

Aiken SR and Leigh CH. 1975. Malaysia's emerging conurbation. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 65: 546-563

Aiken SR, Frost DB, and CH Leigh. 1980. Dengue haemorrhagic fever and rainfall in Peninsular Malaysia: Some suggested relationships. *Social Science and Medicine* 14D: 307-316.

Aiken SR and Leigh CH. 1978. Dengue haemorrhagic fever in Southeast Asia. *Transactions, Institute of British Geographers* N.S. 3: 476-497.

Alexander MA, Deser C, and MS Timlin. 1999. The reemergence of SST anomalies in the North Pacific Ocean. *Journal of Climate* 12(8): 2419-2433.

Amarasekera KN, Lee RF, Williams ER, and EAB Eltahir. 1997. ENSO and the natural variability in the flow of tropical rivers. *Journal of Hydrology* 200: 24-39.

Bouma MJ and Dye C. 1997. Cycles of malaria associated with El Niño in Venezuela. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 278(21): 1772-1774.

Bouma MJ, Poveda G, Rojas W, Chavasse D, Quiñones M, Cox J, and J Patz. 1997. Predicting high-risk years for malaria in Colombia using parameters of El Niño Southern Oscillation. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 2: 1122-1127.

Bouma MJ, Sondorp HE, and HJ van der Kaay. 1994. Climate change and periodic epidemic malaria. *Lancet* 343: 1440.

Bouma MJ and van der Kaay HJ. 1996. The El Niño Southern Oscillation and historic malaria epidemics on the Indian subcontinent and Sri Lanka: An early warning system for future epidemics? *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 1: 86-96.

Bouma MJ and van der Kaay HJ. 1994. Epidemic malaria in India and the El Niño Southern Oscillation. *Lancet* 344: 1638-1939.

Bruce-Chwatt LJ. 1985. *Essential Malariology*. 2nd Ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Cabrera BD, Aramburo III PV. 1977. Malaria in the Philippines. A review. Acta Tropica 34(3): 265-279.

Camargo LM, dal Colleto GM, Ferreira MU, Gurgel S de M, Escobar AL, Marques A, Krieger H, Camargo EP, and LH da Silva. 1996. Hypoendemic malaria in Rondônia (Brazil, western Amazonia): Seasonal variation and risk groups in an urban locality. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 55(1): 32-38.

Cantelar de Francisco N. 1983. Fiebre hemorrhagica por dengue (FHD). Sudeste Asiatico y Pacifico Occidental (1 Parte). *Revista Cubana de Medicina Tropical* 35(2): 130-135.

Carrada-Bravo T. 1987. The epidemiology of dengue in Americas 1982-1984. Salud Publica de Mexico 29(1): 15-25.

Caviedes CN. 1984. El Niño 1982-83. Geography Review 74: 268-290.

Cedeño JEM. 1986. Rainfall and flooding in the Guayas river basin and its effect on the incidence of malaria 1982-1985. *Disasters* 10(2): 107-111.

Chang MS and Jute N. 1986. Dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever outbreak in Lawas district, Sarawak, East Malaysia. *Medical Journal of Malaysia* 41(4): 310-319.

Chang MS, Rubis P, Jute N, and TW Lim. 1981. Entomological aspects of endemic dengue fever in Sarawak 1973-1980. *Medical Journal of Malaysia* 36(2): 79-82.

Cheang B-K. 1993. Interannual variability of monsoons in Malaysia and its relationship with ENSO. *Proceedings of the Indian Academy of Sciences (Earth and Planetary Sciences)* 102(1): 219-239.

Christopherson RW. 1994. Geosystems. An Introduction to Physical Geography. 2nd Ed. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: MacMillan College Publishing Company.

Cochet P, Deparis X, Morillon M, and FG Louis. 1996. Le paludisme dans le département français de la Guyane entre tradition et modernité. *Médicine Tropicale* 56(2): 185-188.

de Andrade AL, Martelli CM, Oliveira RM, Arias JR, Zicker F, and L Pang. 1995. High prevalence of asymptomatic malaria in gold mining areas in Brazil. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 20(2): 475.

Dominguez NN. 2000. *Personal communication*. National dengue program coordinator. Ministry of Health. Manila, the Philippines.

Dutta HM and Dutt AK. 1978. Malaria ecology: A global perspective. *Social Science and Medicine* 12: 69-84.

Earnchan P, Nisalak A, Foy HM, and OA Chareonsook. 1989 Epidemiology and control of dengue virus infections in Thai villages in 1987. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 41(1): 95-101.

Esterre P, Cordoliani G, Germanetto P, and Y Robin. 1990. Epidémiologie du paludisme en Guyane française. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique* 83(2): 193-205.

Evans C, Wilkinson J, Robinson J, Wood P, Runco S, Amsbury D, Lulla K, and M Slattery. 1999. NASA pictures of Earth. El Niño: Images of floods and drought (Part I). *Geography Review* 12(3): 6-9.

Foo LC, Lim TW, Han LL, and R Fang. 1985 Rainfall abundance of Aedes aegypti and dengue infection in Selangor, Malaysia. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health* 16(4): 560-568.

Fouque F, Reynes J-M, and J-P Moreau. 1995. Dengue in French Guiana, 1965-1993. Bulletin of the Pan American Health Organization 29(2): 147-155.

Frost DB. 1991. Dengue in Southeast Asia and the Pacific, 431-458. In: Environment and Health. Editor Akhtar R. New Delhi: Ashish Publishing House. Giglioli G, Ch'en WI, Marchant DE, and P Howell. 1976. Malaria eradication in Guyana. *Tropical Doctor* 6(3): 126-132.

Giglioli G, Rutten FJ, and S Ramjattan. 1967. Interruption of malaria transmission by chloroquinised salt in Guyana. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 36: 283-301.

Glantz MH. 1991. Introduction, 1-12. In: Teleconnections Linking Worldwide Climate Anomalies. Editors Glantz MH, Katz RW, and N Nicholls. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Gómez-Dantes H. 1991. El dengue en las Americas. Un problema de salud regional. Salud Publica de Mexico 33(44): 347-355.

Gratz NG and Knudsen AB. 1996. The Rise and Spread of Dengue, Dengue Haemorrhagic Fever and its Vectors. A Historical review (up to 1995), CTD/FIL(DEN) 96.7WHO.

Groot H, Morales A, Romero M, Vidales H, Lesmes-Donaldson C, and G Marques. 1979. *Recent outbreaks of dengue in Colombia*, 31-39. In: *Dengue in the Caribbean*, 1977: Proceedings of a workshop held in Montego Bay, Jamaica (8-11 May 1978). PAHO. Scientific Publication 375.

Gubler DJ and Clark GG. 1995. Dengue/dengue hemorrhagic fever: The emergence of a global health problem. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 1(2): 55-57.

Hales S, Weinstein P, Souares Y, and A Woodward. 1999. El Niño and the dynamics of vector-borne disease transmission. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 107: 99-102.

Hales S, Weinstein P, and A Woodward. 1996. Dengue fever epidemics in the South Pacific: Driven by El Niño Southern Oscillation? *Lancet* 348: 1664-1665.

Halstead SB. 1993. Global epidemiology of dengue: Health systems in disarray. *Tropical Medicine* 35(4): 137-146.

Halstead SB. 1980. Dengue haemorrhagic fever-a public health problem. Bulletin of the WHO 58(1): 1-21.

Hansen J, and Lebedeff S. 1987. Global trends of measured surface air temperature. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 92: 13345-13372.

Harger JRE. 1995. ENSO variations and drought occurrence in Indonesia and the Philippines. *Atmospheric Environment* 29(16): 1943-1955.

Hastenrath SL. 1990. Diagnostics and prediction of anomalous river discharge in northern South America. *Journal of Climate* 3: 1080-1096.

Hastenrath SL. 1985. *Climate and Circulation of the Tropics*. Dordrecht, Holland: D. Reidel Publishing Company.

Herrera-Basto E, Prevots DR, Zarate L, Silva JL, and J Sepulveda-Amor. 1992. First reported outbreak of classical dengue fever at 1700 metres above sea level in Guerrero State, Mexico, June 1988. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 46: 649-653.

Hollis L. 1996. Seasonal climate summary southern hemisphere (winter 1995): some signs of a La Niña developing. *Australian Meteorological Magazine* 45(1): 63-69.

Hudson JE. 1986. The 1982 emergency ultralow volume spray campaign against Aedes aegypti adults in Paramaribo, Suriname. *Bulletin of the Pan American Health Organization* 20(3): 295-303.

Johnson, AM. 1976. The Climate of Peru, Bolivia, and Ecuador, 147-218. In: World Survey of Climatology. Climates of Central and South America. Editor Schwerdtfeger W. Vol. 12. New York: Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company.

Juminer B, Robin Y, Pajot FX, and R Eutrope. 1981. Physionomie de paludisme en Guyane. Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique 41(2): 135-146.

Kiladis GN and Diaz HF. 1989. Global climatic anomalies associated with extremes in the Southern Oscillation. *Journal of Climate* 2: 1069-1090.

Kusriastuti R. 1999. Personal Communication. Epidemiologist. Sub Direktorat Arbovirosis. Jakarta, Indonesia.

Leigh PJ. 1996. Seasonal climate summary southern hemisphere (summer 1995-96): a weak Pacific cool episode (La Niña) begins to decline. *Australian Meteorological Magazine*. 45: 203-211.

Leung LR, Hamlet AF, Lettenmaier DT, and A Kumar. 1999. Simulations of the ENSO hydroclimate signals in the Pacific Northwest Columbia river basin. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society80(11): 2313-2329.

Lepelletier L, Gay F, Nadire-Galliot M, Poman JP, Bellony S, Claustre J, Traore BM, and J Mouchet. Le paludime en Guyane I. Situation générale de l'endémie. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique* 82(3): 385-392.

Lewis ND, Tran L, Hamnett M, Prasad U, and A Hilton. Unpublished. NOAA Economics & Human Dimensions of Climate Fluctuations, Project Summaries. NOAA, 34-39.

Liese BH. 1998. A brake on economic development. World Health 51(3): 16-17.

Lim ES. 1992. Current status of malaria in Southeast Asia. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 23(Supplement 4): 43-48.

Lindsay SW and Birley MH. 1996. Climate change and malaria transmission. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 90(6): 573-588.

Llopis A, Travieso R, and V Addimandi. 1979. *Dengue in Venezuela*, pp. 83-86. In: *Dengue in the Caribbean, 1977. Dengue in the Caribbean, 1977:* Proceedings of a workshop held in Montego Bay, Jamaica (8-11 May 1978). PAHO. Scientific Publication 375.

Mandle JR. 1970. The decline in mortality in British Guiana, 1911-1960. Demography 7(3): 301-315. Martin PH and Lefebvre MG. 1995. Malaria and climate: sensitivity of malaria potential transmission to climate. *Ambio* 24(4): 200-207.

Matinez A. 2000. Personal communication. Instituto Geofisico del Peru. Lima, Peru.

Martyn D. 1992. Climates of the World. New York: Elsevier Publishing Company.

Mason SJ, Goddard L, Graham NE, Yulaeva E, Sun L, and PA Arkin. 1999. The IRI seasonal climate prediction system and the 1997/98 El Niño event. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 80(9): 1853-1873.

Meade M. 1976. A new disease in Southeast Asia: Man's creation of dengue haemorrhagic fever. *Pacific Viewpoint* 17: 133-146.

MMWR. 1991. Dengue epidemic-Peru, 1990. Morbidity, Mortality Weekly Report 40(9): 145-147.

MMWR. 1989. Dengue epidemic-Ecuador, 1988. Morbidity Mortality Weekly Report 38(24): 419-421.

Molion LCB. 1993. Amazonia Rainfall and its Variability, 99-111. In: Hydrology and Water Management in the Humid Tropics. Editors Bonell M, Hufschmidt M, and JS Gladwell. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Moore CG, Cline BL, Ruiz-Tiben E, Lee D, Romney-Joseph H, and E Rivera-Correa. 1978. Aedes aegypti in Puerto Rico: Environmental determinants of larval abundance and relation to dengue virus transmission. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 27(6): 1225-1231.

Nathin MA, Harun SR, Sumarmo. 1988. Dengue haemorrhagic fever and Japanese B encephalitis in Indonesia. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health* 19(3): 475-481.

Newman SC. 1998. *Personal communication*. Professor. Department of Public Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

Ngamtao P. 1999. *Personal communication*. Communicable diseases control department, malaria division. Ministry of Public Health. Bangkok, Thailand.

Nicholls N. 1993. El Niño Southern Oscillation and vector-borne disease. *Lancet* 342: 1284-1285.

Nicholls N. 1986. A method for predicting Murray Valley Encephalitis in Southeast Australia, using the Southern Oscillation. *Australian Journal* 64(Pt. 6): 587-594.

NOAA. Warm (El Niño/Southern Oscillation -ENSO). Episodes in the Tropical Pacific. Web page {accessed 2000}. Available at URL: http://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/products/analysis_monitoring/impacts/warm_impacts.h tml

Nobre CA and de Oliveira AS. 1986. Precipitation and circulation anomalies in South America and the 1982-83 El Niño/Southern Oscillation episode. *Extended Abstracts. Second International Conference on Southern Hemisphere Meteorology*, 442-445. American Meteorological Society.

Orlandoni G. 1999. Personal communication. Professor. Instituto de Estadísticas Aplicada & Computación. Universidad de los Andes. Mérida, Venezuela.

PAHO. 1998a. Status of Malaria Programs in the Americas, XLVI. Washington, D.C.

PAHO. 1998b. *Health Statistics in the Americas (Volume II)*, Scientific Publication No. 569. Washington, D.C.

PAHO. 1998c. Health Impacts of the Southern Oscillation (El Niño). Washington, D.C: September 21-25, 1998.

PAHO. 1997. Malaria in the Americas, 1996. Epidemiological Bulletin 18(3): 1-8.

PAHO. 1994a. Dengue and Dengue Haemorrhagic Fever in the Americas: Guidelines for Prevention and Control, Scientific Publication No. 548. Washington, D.C.

PAHO. 1994b. Status of malaria programs in the Americas XLII Report, Washington, D.C.

PAHO. 1991. Status of malaria programs in the Americas XXXIX Report, Washington, D.C.

PAHO. 1980. Malaria programs in the Amazon region of Brazil. *Epidemiological Bulletin* 1(3): 6-8.

Passos ADC. 1999. *Personal communication*. Professor in infectious diseases, Facultade de Medicina de Ribeirão Preto da Universidade de São Paulo. São Paulo, Brazil.

Passos ADC and Fialho R. 1998. Malaria: aspectos epidemiologicos e de controle. *Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical* 31(Supplement 2): 93-105.

Patz JA, Strzepek K, Lele S, Hedden M, Greene S, Noden B, Hay SI, Kalkstein L, and JC Beier. 1998. Predicting key malaria transmission factors, biting and entomological inoculation rates, using modelled soil moisture in Kenya. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 3(10): 818-827.

Pielke Jr. RA and Landsea CN. 1999. La Niña, El Niño, and Atlantic hurricane damages in the United States. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 80(10): 2027-2033.

Pinheiro FP and Corber SJ. 1997. Global situation of dengue and DHF, and its emergence in the Americas. *World Health Statistics Quarterly* 50: 161-168.

Poveda GJ and Mesa OJ. 1995. The relationship between ENSO and the hydrology of tropical South America. The case of Colombia, 227-236. *Proceedings of the Fifteenth Annual American Geophysical union Hydrology Days*. Atherton, California: Hydrology Days Publication.

Poveda GJ, Nicholas E, Graham, Epstein PR, Rojas W, Darlo Velez I, Quiñones ML, and P Martens. 1999. Climate and ENSO variability associated to malaria and dengue fever in Colombia, 173-176. *10th Symposium on Global Change Studies*. Dallas, USA: January 10-15.

Poveda GJ and Rojas W. 1997. Evidencias de la asociación entre brotes epidemicos de malaria en Colombia y el fenómeno El Niño-Oscilación del Sur. *Revista de la Academia Colombiana de Ciencias Exactas, Físicas y Naturales* 21(91): 421-429.

Poveda GJ and Rojas W. 1996. Impacto del fenomeno del Niño sobre la intensificacion de la malaria en Colombia, 647-654. *Proceedings XII Colombian Hydrological Meeting*. Colombian Society of Engineers.

Press WH, Teukolsky SA, Vetterling WT, and BP Flannery. 1992. Numerical Recipes in FORTRAN. The Art of Scientific Computing. 2nd Ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Pulwarty RS, Barry RG, and H Riehl. 1992. Annual and seasonal patterns of rainfall variability over Venezuela. *Erdkunde* 46: 273-289.

Quenouille MH. 1952. Associated Measurements. New York: Academic Press Inc.

Quesada ME and Caviedes CN. 1992. Características estadísticas de algunos ríos de Colombia. *Revista Geográfica (Instituto Panamericano de Geografía e Historia)*: 116: 53-66.

Quinn WH and Neal VT. 1995. *The historical record of El Niño events*, 623-648. In: *Climate Since A.D. 1500.* Editors Bradley RS and Jones PD. London and New York: Routledge.

Quinn WH, Zopf DO, Shorth KS, and RT Kuo Yang. 1978. Historical trends and statistics of the Southern Oscillation, El Niño, and Indonesian droughts. *Fishery bulletin (U.S.)* 76: 663-678.

Rahman KM. 1982. Epidemiology of malaria in Malaysia. *Review of Infectious Diseases* 4(5): 985-991.

Rambajan I. 1994. Highly prevalent falciparum in Northwest Guyana: Its development history and control problems. *Bulletin of the Pan American Health Organization* 28(3): 194-201.

Reiter P. 1996. La dengue dans les Amériques. Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique 89(2): 95-96.

Reynes J-M. 1996. Dengue in French Guiana. History and present status. Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique 89(2): 98-100.

Reynes JM, Laurent A, Deudel V, Telliam E, and J-P Moreau. 1993. The first epidemic of dengue haemorrhagic fever in French Guiana. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 51(5): 545-553.

Richey JE, Nobre C, and C Deser. 1989. Amazon river discharge and climate variability: 1903-1985. *Science* 246: 101-103.

Roberts DR, Laughlin LL, Hsheigh P, and LJ Legters. 1997. DDT, global strategies, and a malaria control crisis in South America. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 3(3): 295-302.

Ropelewski CF and Halpert MS. 1996. Quantifying Southern Oscillation-Precipitation relationships. *Journal of Climate* 9(5): 1043-1059.

Ropelewski CF and Halpert MS. 1989. Precipitation patterns associated with the high index phase of the Southern Oscillation. *Journal of Climate* 2: 268-284.

Ropelewski CF and MS Halpert. 1987. Global and regional scale precipitation patterns associated with the El Niño/Southern Oscillation. *Monthly Weather Review* 115: 1606-1626.

Rosner BA. 1982. Fundamentals of Biostatistics. Boston: Duxbury Press.

Rossel F, Le Goulven P, and E Cadier. 1999. Répartition spatiale de l'influence de l'ENSO sur les précipitations annuelles en Equateur. *Revue des Sciences de l'Eau* 12(1): 183-200.

Roswintiarti O (Indonesian National Institute of Aeronautics and Space). 1994. Climate Anomaly of the Indonesian Archipelago Related with El Niño/Southern Oscillation and its Short-Term Prediction (IRIP-TL-93/6). International Research Institute for Climate Prediction Pilot Project.

Rozendaal JA. 1992. The relationship between seasonal fluctuations in malaria transmission, breeding habitats of Anopheles darlingi, river height, and rainfall in the rainforest of Suriname. *Medical Veterinary Entomology* 6(1): 16-22.

Rozendaal JA. 1991. Epidemiology and control of malaria in Suriname. Bulletin of the Pan American Health Organization 25(4): 336-355.

Russac PA. 1986. Epidemiological surveillance: Malaria epidemic following the El Niño phenomenon. *Disasters* 10(2): 112-117.

Salazar NP, Miranda ME, Santos MN, and LA de las Llagas. 1988. The malaria situation in the Philippines with special reference to mosquito vectors. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health* 19(4): 709-712.

Saroso JS. 1978. Dengue haemorrhagic fever in Indonesia: An epidemiological review. *Asian Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2: 7-8.

Schneider U and Fleer HE. 1989. Development of sea surface temperature, surface wind and divergence anomalies during a composite ENSO episode. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology* 39: 146-159.

Schultz GW. 1993. Seasonal abundance of dengue vectors in Manila, Republic of the Philippines. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health* 24(2): 369-375.

Seghal R. 1997. Dengue fever and El Niño. Lancet 349(9053): 729-730.

Silveira AC. 1998. Dengue: aspectos epidemiológicos e de controle. *Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical* 31(Supplement II): 5-14.

Snow JW. 1976. The Climate of Northern South America, 295-403. In: World Survey of Climatology. Climates of Central and South America. Editor Schwerdtfeger W. Vol. 12. New York: Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company.

Stern PC and Easterling WE. 1999. *Making Climate Forecasts Matter*. Committee on the Human Dimensions of Global Change. Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. National Research Council. Washington D.C: National Academy Press.

Sumarmo. 1987. Dengue haemorrhagic fever in Indonesia. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 18(3): 269-274.

Tapley TD, Jr and Waylen PR. 1990. Spatial variability of annual precipitation and ENSO events in western Peru. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* 35(4): 429-446.

Telleria AV. 1986. Health consequences of the floods in Bolivia in 1982. *Disasters* 10(2): 88-106.

Thouez J-P, Singh B, Andre P, and C Bryant. 1998. Le réchauffement du climat terrestre et les impacts potentiels en géographie des maladies. *The Candian Geographer/Le Géographe Canadien* 42(1): 78-85.

Tonn RJ. 1970. The magnitude of seasonal changes in larval populations of Aedes aegypti in Bangkok, Thailand. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 42: 943.

Trenberth KE. 1997. The definition of El Niño. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 78(12): 2771-2777.

Trenberth KE and Hoar TJ. 1996. The 1990-1995 El Niño-Southern Oscillation event: Longest on record. *Geophysical Research Letters* 23(1): 57-60.

Trigg P and Kondrachine A. 1998. The global malaria control strategy. *World Health* 51(3): 4-5.

Ungchusak K and Kunasol P. 1988. Dengue haemorrhagic fever in Thailand, 1987. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 19(3): 487-490.

Valencia PGV. 1999. Personal communication. Coordinador de enfermedades metaxenicast. Oficina General de Epidemiología del Ministerio de Salud. Lima, Peru.

van Peenen PFD, Atmosoedjono S, Lien JC, and SJ Saroso. 1972. Seasonal abundance of adult Aedes aegypti in Djakarta, Indonesia. *Mosquito News* 32(2): 176-179.

Wang B. 1995. Interdecadal Changes in El Niño Onset in the Last Four Decades. *Journal of Climate* 8: 267-285.

Watts DM, Burke DS, Harrison BA, Whitmire RE, and A Nisalak. 1987. Effect of temperature on the vector efficiency of Aedes aegypti for dengue 2 virus. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 36(1): 143-152.

WHO. 1999. Malaria, 1982-1997. Weekly Epidemiological Record 74(32): 265-270.

WHO. 1998a. Division of Control of Tropical Diseases (CTD) Progress Report 1997, WHO/CTD/PR/98.5.

WHO. 1998b. Turning Malaria Around, WHO/CTD/MAL/98.6.

WHO. 1997. World malaria situation in 1994, part I. *Weekly Epidemiological Record* 72(36): 269-274.

WHO. 1996. World malaria situation in 1993, part II. Weekly Epidemiological Record 71(4): 25-29.

WHO. 1994. World malaria situation in 1992, part I. Weekly Epidemiological Record 69(42): 309-314.

WHO. 1993. World malaria situation in 1991, part I. *Weekly Epidemiological Record* 68(34): 245-252.

WHO. 1992a. Control of Tropical Diseases: Malaria. Geneva, Switzerland.

WHO. 1992b. World malaria situation in 1990, part I. Weekly Epidemiological Record 67(22): 161-167.

WHO. 1991. World malaria situation in 1989, part II. Weekly Epidemiological Record 66(23):

WHO. 1990. World malaria situation, 1988. World Health Statistics Quarterly 43(2): 68-78.

WHO. 1989. World malaria situation 1986-1987, part I. Weekly Epidemiological Record 64(32): 241-247.

WHO. 1986. World malaria situation 1984. World Health Statistics Quarterly 39(2): 171-205.

WHO. 1985. World malaria situation in 1983. World Health Statistics Quarterly 38(2): 193-231.

WHO. 1984. World malaria situation in 1982. World Health Statistics Quarterly 37(2): 130-161.

WHO. 1983. Synopsis of the world malaria situation in 1981. Weekly Epidemiological Record 58(25): 189-192

WHO. 1981. Synopsis of the world malaria situation in 1979. Weekly Epidemiological Record 56(19): 145-149.

WHO. 1980. Synopsis of the world malaria situation in 1978. Weekly Epidemiological Record 55(26): 193-197.

WHO. 1979. Synopsis of the world malaria situation in 1977. Weekly Epidemiological Record 54(14): 105-107.

WHO. 1976. Dengue surveillance-Colombia. *Weekly Epidemiological Record* 51(49): 373.

WHO. 1975. Information on the world malaria situation, January-December 1974. *Weekly Epidemiological Record* 50(45): 377-387.

WHO. 1971. Dengue haemorrhagic fever-Thailand. *Weekly Epidemiological Record* 46(24): 237-240.

WHO. 1970. Dengue haemorrhagic fever in Thailand. Weekly Epidemiological Record 45(18): 201-204.

Wilks DS. 1995. Statistical Methods in the Atmospheric Sciences. San Diego: Academic Press.

Wohlleben TMH. 1994. Decadal Climate Variability in the Subpolar North Atlantic. Master's thesis. School of Earth and Ocean Sciences. University of Victoria.

Wolter K and Timlin MS. 1998. Measuring the strength of ENSO - How does 1997/98 rank? *Weather* 53: 315-324.
Wolter K and Timlin MS. 1993. Monitoring ENSO in COADS with a seasonally adjusted principal component index, 52-57. *Proceedings of the 17th Climate Diagnostics Workshop*. Norman, Oklahoma.

Wong RKW. 1999. *Personal communication*. Air statistics/Climate specialist. Alberta Environmental Protection. Science and Technology Branch, Environmental Sciences Division. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

Xie P and Arkin PA. 1997. Global Precipitation: A 17-Year Monthly Analysis Bases on Gauge Observations, Satellite Estimates, and Numerical Model Outputs. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 78(11): 2539-2558.

Appendix 1: Name and Addresses of Individuals who Provided Climatic, Hydrological and Epidemiological Data (by alphabetical order).

 P.R. Arbani Regional advisor (malaria) WHO, Regional Office for Southeast Asia World Health House Indraprastha Estate, Mahatma Gandhi Road New Delhi 110002 India postmaster@whosea.org

2. S. Arjoso
Communicable Diseases Research Centre
National Institute of Health Research and Development
Ministry of Health
Jalan Percetakan Negara No. 29
PO Box 1226 Jakarta 10012
Indonesia
Fax: 62-21-424-5386

3. C. Becker Director Meteorological Service PO Box 2273 Paramaribo Suriname <u>cbecker@sr.net</u>

4. J. Bilous

Acting Regional Advisor in Communicable Diseases Communicable Diseases Unit WHO, Regional Office for the Western Pacific PO Box 2932, United Nations Avenue, Manila 1099 Philippines postmaster@who.org.ph

N. Dominguez
 National dengue programme co-ordinator
 Department of Health
 Bldg. 13, San Lazaro Compound
 Rizal Avenue, Santa Cruz, Manila 1003

Philippines ma_noviel@yahoo.com

6. J. Jafferally Hydrometeorological Service
18 Brickdam
PO Box 1088 Georgetown
Guyana
jaffhym@guyana.net.gy

7. R. Kusriastuti
Sub Direktorat Arbovirosis
Jalan Percetakan Negara 29
PO Box 223 Jakarta 10560
Indonesia

8. S.P. Mercado
Undersecretary of Health
Office for Public Health Services
Department of Health
Bldg. 13, San Lazaro Compound
Rizal Avenue, Santa Cruz, Manila, 1003
Philippines
susy@doh.gov.ph

9. J. Muhi

Senior Medical Officer of Health, Vector Borne Disease Control Unit Sarawak Health Department. Jalan Tun Abang Haji Openg 93590 Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia jamail.muhi@sarawak.health.gov.my

10. P. Ngamtao Communicable Diseases Control Department, Malaria Division Ministry of Public Health Thailand pornpim@health.moph.go.th 11. L. Ortega
Department of Health
Bldg 13, San Lazaro Compound
Rizal Avenue, Santa Cruz, Manila, 1003
Philippines
mcs@doh.gov.ph

12. A.D.C. Passos
Professor in Infectious Diseases
Facultade de Medicina de Ribeirão Preto da Universidade de São Paulo
Avenida Bandeirantes, No. 3900
140490-900 - Ribeirão Preto – SP
Brazil
Apassos@fmrp.usp.br

13. C.R. Ramirez Oficina de Epidemiología Ministry of Health Santafé de Bogotá Colombia Crueda@minsalud.gov.co

14. P. TanhanLibrarianWHO, Documentation Center for Thailand<u>thwhodoc@whodoc</u>

15. P.G.V. Valencia
Coordinador de enfermedades metaxenicas
Oficina General de Epidemiología
Ministry of Health
Avenida Camilo Carrillo 402
Jesús Maria, Lima 11
Peru
Pvalencia@oge.sld.pe

16. K. Wolter NOAA Climate Diagnostics Center kew@cdc.noaa.gov

Appendix 2: Problem of Serial Correlation

To test for the statistical significance of a correlation coefficient between two time series, Fisher's z-transformation is used according to:

$$z = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{(1+r)}{(1-r)},$$
 (A2.1)

in which z is the normalised value of the correlation coefficient r (Pearson's correlation) between the two time series. This equation transforms the correlation coefficients so that they become approximately normally distributed, with a standard deviation (σ_z) equal to:

$$\sigma_z = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-3}},\tag{A2.2}$$

where *n* is the number of observations in the time series¹ (Quenouille, 1952).

Climatological, hydrological and oceanic data (hereafter referred to as atmospheric/oceanic data) display serial correlation, because of the time-scales involved in their evolution and the relatively rapid frequency with which the data are collected. Atmospheric/oceanic time series are often smoothed using moving averages, further increasing serial correlation (Wohlleben, 1994; Figure A2.1). For that reason, atmospheric/oceanic time series do not meet the assumption of random or independent observations required by standard statistical tests, because the number of independent observations is substantially less than the actual number of observations (Wilks, 1995).



Figure A2.1. Autocorrelation function of the SOI (autocorrelation function refers to the compilation of autocorrelations at various lags).

Serial correlation decreases the sample variance and hence the standard deviation (Wilks, 1995). As the standard deviation is the criterion used to test for statistical significance, a relationship can be determined as statistically significant when no correlation actually exists if serial correlation is not accounted for. Therefore, Quenouille's (1952) method, which is commonly used by the meteorological community (e.g., Hastenrath, 1990; Alexander *et al.*, 1999), is utilised to adjust for serial correlation by identifying the effective number of independent observations in the time series, which can be estimated by the following equation:

$$n' \cong \frac{n}{(1 + 2r_1r'_1 + 2r_2r'_2 + 2r_3r'_3 + \dots)},$$
(A2.3)

in which *n* corresponds to the total number of observations in the time series and *n* ' to the number of independent observations. The autocorrelation coefficients of two time series at k lags (k = 1, 2, 3, 4, ...) are denoted by r_k and r'_k . The lag-k autocorrelation coefficient is obtained by correlating a time series with the same time series shifted by a k-month lag. This equation refers to the degrees of freedom, which are equal to *n*-2.

Since the time series analysed in this project contain large number of observations, the correction for the degrees of freedom is necessary but relatively minimal (Quenouille, 1952).

-

¹ The value of z must equal or exceed two standard deviations for 95% significance

Appendix 3: Example of Contingency Table with Fisher's Exact Test, Testing Independence of Dengue Epidemics between Niño (0) versus Non-Niño (0) years in French Guiana.

In this example, we are testing the hypothesis that the probability of a dengue epidemic during Niño (0) years ($p_1 = 5/7 = 0.71$) is not statistically different from the probability of an epidemic during non-Niño (0) years ($p_2 = 1/21 = 0.048$) (Table A3.1).

Table A3.1. Example of contingency table with Fisher's exact test, testing independence of dengue epidemics between Niño (0) and non-Niño (0) years in French Guiana.

	Niño (0)	non-Niño (0)		
Epidemic	5	1	6	
No epidemic	2	20	22	
	7	21	28	

 H_0 : Dengue epidemics in French Guiana are not more likely to occur in Niño (0) years than in other years

After rearranging the contingency table so that the smallest row total is the first row and the smallest column total is the first column (in this case rearranging is already accomplished), Pr (a) is calculated for each possible value of a in the above contingency table (i.e., 0,1, ..., 6) (Pr (a) is the probability of obtaining a in the contingency table; Table A3.2). (Calculation of Pr (a) is according to equation 2.2.) Note that m, n, r, and s in Table 2.3 are fixed and the other numbers are adjusted according to the new a value (Rosner, 1982).

Table A3.2. Probability of obtaining each possible value of a (i.e., Pr (a)) in the contingency table.

a		Pr (a)
	0	0.144
	1	0.378
	2	0.334
	3	0.124
	4	0.0196
	5	0.00118
	6	0.0000187

The one-sided p-value is obtained by adding the probabilities greater than or equal to the actual a value (i.e., 5), which give 0.00118 + 0.0000187 = 0.0012. For a two-sided p-value the sum of the probabilities starting at a = 0 is calculated up to the point where the sum does not exceed the one-sided p-value. In this case, Pr (0) is already greater than the one-sided p-value (cf., Table A3.2). Hence, the two-sided p-value is 0.0012, meaning a significance level of more than 99%. The two proportions are significantly different, therefore we can say that the risk of a dengue epidemic in French Guiana is greater during Niño (0) years than in non-Niño (0) years (S. Newman, *personal communication*; Rosner, 1982).

Appendix 4. Maps



Scale: 1: 20,000,000

Figure A4.1. Geographical location of the Malaysian State of Sarawak.



1: 5,400,000

Figure A4.2. Map of Ecuador.



Scale: 1: 12,600,000

Figure A4.3. Geographical regions of Venezuela.



Figure A4.4. Map of Peru.



Scale: 1: 12,000,000

Figure A4.5. The geographical regions of Colombia.



Figure A4.6. States and territories of Brazil's Amazon region.